

### MEASURES AND PROCEDURES TO MANAGE WILDFIRE RISK WITH APPLICATIONS TO THE SUSTAINABILITY OF TIMBER SUPPLY IN AN EASTERN CANADIAN BOREAL FOREST

Thèse

Georgina Renée Rodriguez Baca

Doctorat en sciences forestières Philosophiæ doctor (Ph.D.)

Québec, Canada

© Georgina Renée Rodriguez Baca, 2017

### MEASURES AND PROCEDURES TO MANAGE WILDFIRE RISK WITH APPLICATIONS TO THE SUSTAINABILITY OF TIMBER SUPPLY IN AN EASTERN CANADIAN BOREAL FOREST

Thèse

Georgina Renée Rodriguez Baca

Sous la direction de :

Frédéric Raulier, directeur de recherche Alain Leduc, codirecteur de recherche

## Résumé

Bien que les stratégies de gestion du risque et de l'incertitude soient de plus en plus reconnues comme une dimension critique de l'aménagement des ressources naturelles, leur mise en œuvre reste encore à développer. Cependant la gravité du risque, les dommages potentiels qui y sont associés ainsi que sa probabilité d'occurrence demeurent souvent méconnus. Cette étude analyse différentes stratégies de gestion des risques utilisées dans la planification de l'aménagement forestier. Nous avons évalué des stratégies qui pouvaient protéger le niveau de récolte face aux risques de feu. Un modèle d'optimisation et de simulation a été concu pour évaluer l'impact du risque de feu sur les calculs de possibilité forestière dans un contexte d'aménagement écosystémique de la zone boréale de la province de Québec au Canada. Nous avons comparé deux stratégies de mitigation des impacts. La stratégie dans laquelle les coûts d'une prime d'assurance sont pris en compte s'est révélée relativement meilleure que celle consistant à une mise en réserve de bois (chapitre I). Nous avons également évalué une stratégie menant à l'exclusion des peuplements les plus vulnérables au feu en raison de leur faible taux de croissance (chapitre II). Cette stratégie s'est également révélée meilleure que celle visant la mise en réserve de bois. Finalement, nous avons évalué le potentiel que présente la coupe partielle comme stratégie visant à réduire le temps d'exposition au risque. Combinée la mise en réserve de bois (fond de réserve), la coupe partielle s'avère un outil des plus utile (chapitre III). L'étude révèle qu'une stratégie ciblée telle que l'exclusion des peuplements vulnérables ou l'augmentation de la proportion des coupes partielles performe mieux qu'une stratégie non ciblée telle que le fond de réserve. Bien que nous ayons abordé différentes stratégies d'aménagement forestier dans cette thèse, des points importants restent

encore à éclaircir, en particulier la tolérance au risque et le contexte dans lequel il se développe.

## Abstract

Although, management strategies dealing with risk and uncertainty have become a critical issue over the past several years, solutions are still to be developed. However, how can one judge the severity of risk when the potential damage and its probability are unknown? This study develops a framework for analyzing risk management strategies in forest management planning. We delineated how these management strategies could address the risk to protect timber harvest against disruptions. We tested optimization and simulation model to estimate the impact of risk associated with fire in timber supply calculations in an ecosystem context in boreal zone of the province of Quebec, Canada. Since paying, an insurance premium appeared to produce better results than partitioning buffer stock, (chapter I). The rating of wood volume available to harvest as a function of its vulnerability to fire can be used to reduce the impacts of fire on timber supply (chapter II). This idea was extended to test the adaptability of partial cutting coupled with buffer stock and accounting for the uncertainty induced by fire and projected climate scenarios (chapter III). As there are different levels of risk and different levels of tolerance to risk, the study results have shown that the process of risk evaluation itself needs to be accepted in its degree of uncertainties and its severity. As far as the insurance is concerned, it looks like a good strategy, but find an insurance company that is interested enough to believe there are enough potential customers to pay the premiums to make a profit could be required. The results also reveal that a targeted strategy such as excluding vulnerable stands from timber supply or adaptation of silvicultural treatment such as partial cutting may greatly interesting when facing risk scenario. Although, we covered different forest management strategies in this thesis, important issues still need to be

considered in order to improve the knowledge associated with risk of fire; especially the context in which it develops.

# Table of Contents

Résumé	iii
Abstract	v
List of tables	х
List of figures	xi
Acknowledgements	xiv
Preface	xv
General introduction	1
Risk and uncertainty in timber supply analyses	
Thesis outline	
References	6
Chapter 1: Rating a Wildfire Mitigation Strategy with an Insurance Premium: A B Study	oreal Forest Case 10
Résumé	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Study Area	
Timber supply model	
Interaction between Harvest Scheduling and Stochastic Processes	
Risk Management	
Risk Characterization	
Insurance Premium	
Timber Supply Reduction	
Comparison of Risk Management Strategies	
Results	
Risk Assessment	
Risk Management Strategies	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgments	

References	. 36
Chapter 2: Forest vulnerability through fire risk and its potential impact on forest management planning	. 43
Résumé	. 44
Abstract	. 45
Introduction	. 46
Materials and method	. 48
Study area	. 48
Timber supply model	. 49
Integrating stochastic process in timber harvest model	. 51
Estimating the proportion of vulnerable stands considering fire	. 53
Timber supply reduction	. 54
Risk analysis	. 55
Results	. 55
The assessment of timber vulnerability to wildfire	. 55
Excluding vulnerable stands from the timber supply to avoid fire risk	. 58
Discussion	. 60
Conclusions	. 62
References	. 64
Chapter 3: Sourcing Strategy to mitigate the impact of timber supply disruptions caused by fire	. 69
Résumé	. 70
Abstract	. 71
Introduction	. 72
Materials and methods	. 73
Study area	. 73
Optimization model	. 75
Stochastic environment	. 77
Scenarios design	. 79
Managing risk	. 79
Results	. 80
Discussion	. 82
Conclusions	. 85

References	
General Conclusion	
References	

# List of tables

**Table 1.1.** Parameter values of piecewise linear models with one knot (threshold planned timber harvest (PTH)) (Equation (8)) relating PTH and periodic median realized harvest levels implemented with the landscape simulation model under current (400 years) and probable interval for future fire regimes (100 and 200 years).

**Table 2.1.** Threshold relating PTH and periodic median realized harvest levels. Numbers in

 parentheses represent a half-confidence interval.

## List of figures

**Figure 1.1**. Location of study area Forest Management Unit 085-51. Grey polygons correspond to operating areas (Belleau et al. 2009).

**Figure 1.2.** Box and whiskers plots representing the probability distributions of the simulated implementation of the optimal solution ( $3.8 \text{ Mm}^3 \text{ period}^{-1}$ ) provided by the timber supply model (Equations 1.1-1.6) under current (400 years) and probable interval for future fire regimes (100 and 200 years).

**Figure 1.3.** Probability distributions of the success rate of the simulated harvest schedule implementation under current ((a) 400 years) and probable future fire regimes ((b) 200 years; (c) 100 years). From bottom up, broken and bold lines represent the 5th, median and 95th percentiles. One hundred percent represents the target (continuous line) and ninety percent correspond to a cutoff value below which a timber supply disruption was considered to occur (Schruben 1979).

**Figure 1.4.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and its simulated implementation (median value) when considering the risk of fire for three fire cycles (100, 200 and 400 years). Parameters of the segmented linear models are provided in Table 1. Error bars represent the 5th and 95th percentiles of the probability distribution of simulated harvest levels.

**Figure 1.5.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and maximum value at risk for three fire cycles.

**Figure 1.6.** Distribution of the planned timber harvest into: a part that is not entirely feasible (planning optimism, in white, see Figure 4), a part that should be used to build a buffer stock of timber (dark gray) (with a timber harvest reduction—THR, which should not be harvested, or with an insurance premium, which should be harvested and set apart, with an interest rate between 0% and 4%) (protection strategy), and a part available for harvest (light grey), considering three possible fire cycles.

**Figure 1.7.** Relationship between median value-at-risk (VaR) and insurance premium as a function of interest rates (0% to 4%) and present (400 years) or probable fire cycles (100 and 200 years).

Figure 2.1. Study area, Forest Management Unit 85-51

Figure 2.2. Conceptual framework of optimize and simulation model scheme

**Figure 2.3.** Rate of success for two protection strategies under current fire regime (Panels a or c) and possible worst-case scenario (Panels b or d) of increasing burn rate in the future (100years). Probability distributions of the planning success rate for excluding low-productivity stands vulnerable to fire (Panels a, b) and buffer stock (Panels c, d).

**Figure 2.4.** Proportion of operating areas considered productive which that reach the production threshold (Density of stand 50  $m^3$ /ha) under three different fire cycles 400,200,100) and four probability likelihood (20, 40, 60 and 80%).

**Figure 2.5.** Amount of productive area as a function of planned and realized timber supply under current (400 years Figure a) and future fire regimes (200 years Figure b; 100 years Figure c).

**Figure 2.6.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and realized harvest level (median value) for both strategies under three different fire cycles. The decrease in realized harvest is progressively increasing in shorter fire cycles.

Figure 3.1. Forest management unit (FMU)- 8551

Figure 3.2 Optimization and simulation approach

**Figure 3.3**. Successive implementation of a harvest target reduction (BFS) and increasing the amount of partial cutting required to protect the Median VaR implemented with no risks.

**Figure 3.4.** Median rate of success implemented with no risks for two protection strategies (indirect management of a buffer stock and combination with partial cutting).

**Figure 3.5**. Median value–at-risk for two protection strategies: indirect management of a buffer stock of timber (BFS) and silvicultural strategy coupled with timber harvest reductions (BFS+PC).

## Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deep sense of thanks and gratitude to my mentor, philosopher and guide Dr. Frédéric Raulier for accepting me as a Ph.D. student and the opportunity to join his lab group, for his guidance, encouragement and patience over the years. "*Fuerza*".

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Alain Leduc for guiding me, I really appreciate all the help he gave me, thank you so much for encouraging, your support was essential to my success. I also thank Dr. Sylvie Gauthier and Dr. Mathieu Bouchard who were part of my doctoral committee, thanks for all advice, for sharing knowledge and for very useful comments.

I will always be grateful to Hakim Ouzenou for helping me every time. I owe my gratitude to Patrick Soucy for help me in statistics and probability. Special thanks to my friend Guillaume Cyr for the help in simulations model and for the good times we shared.

Much of my experimental work would have not have been completed without the assistance of Patrick James, Carlos Ordas Criado, David Ardia, Steve Cumming. Of course, I would to thank the members of my department, a special thank to Pierre Racine, Natacha Lafontaine, Mireille Racine. Thanks to all my colleagues in the "Frédéric lab", thanks for make the good times better and the hard times easier. I would like to thank "mi ñañita" for being such a wonderful friend. My thanks to all those with whom I have discussed the ideas expressed here and whose interest has sustained me while I was writing.

Ian Donnelly, Shona Taner, Charles Massey, Anik Cooke, Ayse Alemdar and Mitch Thompson, thanks very much for your help in my thesis editing.

xiv

## Preface

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of philosophiæ doctor (PhD) in forest science at Université Laval. The work presented here was directed by Professor Frédéric Raulier, co-directed by Professor Alain Leduc. This document has been prepared as an article insertion thesis, and includes one journal articles for which I have acted as the principal researcher and principal author. My contributions to these papers include the problem definition, literature review, experimental design, mathematical modelling, experimentation, validation, and the writing of the manuscripts. The co-authors contributed to these papers on several fronts, including problem definition, experimental design, mathematical modelling, and writing of manuscripts. This thesis consists of five sections; General Introduction, Chapter 1, Chapter 2, Chapter 3, and General Conclusion. Chapter 1 to 3 correspond to the following (published, submitted or under preparation) articles:

- The first chapter entitled « Rating a wildfire mitigation strategy with an insurance premium: a boreal forest case » was co-authored by Frédéric Raulier and Alain Leduc. This paper has been published in Forests.
- The second chapter entitled « Forest vulnerability through fire risk and its potential impact on forest management planning» was co-authored by Frédéric Raulier, Alain Leduc and Hakim Ouzennou (Manuscript under preparation).
- The third chapter entitled « Sourcing strategy to mitigate the impact of timber supply disruptions caused by fire » was co-authored by Frédéric Raulier, Alain Leduc and Hakim Ouzennou (Manuscript under preparation).

## **General introduction**

Forest management approach was defined by Haeussler and Kneeshaw (2003) as human intervention into the nature for obtaining desired goods and services. Canada's commitment to sustainable forest management involves social, economic and conservation issues for the benefit of present and future generations (Ferguson 1996). In Canada provincial governments, have the responsibility for managing protecting and developing public forests under sustainable practices which should not diminish the productive capacity of the forest (CCFM, 2008).

Weather and climate are the most important factors influencing fire activity in boreal forests (Flannigan et al. 2009). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2007) established different climate scenarios, which lead to predicted future climates (Randall et al. 2007). Forest fires are challenging for forest management. For example, in 2015, 7,068 forest fires burned about 3.9 million hectares in Canada. Meanwhile, in Quebec, the area burned was less than 2% of its 10-year average (CIFFC 2015). By the end of this century, the fire burn rate in the eastern Canadian boreal forest is projected to increase under future climate conditions (Bergeron et al. 2010; Flato et al. 2000), and it may have important implications in timber supply (Burton et al 2003; Flannigan et al. 2005). Wildfire is the main natural disturbance in boreal ecosystems (Rowe and Scotter 1973; Wein and MacLean 1983).

The fire regime in a given region can be described by multiple attributes of the disturbance, among which are the fire interval, size, severity and spatial distribution (Belleau et al. 2007; Chabot et al. 2009). In black spruce-feather moss bioclimatic sub domains, most fires are

started by lightning (Robitaille and Saucier 1998), and are characterized by the annual area burned. This variable depends on fuel moisture which is a function of vegetation type, weather conditions during the passage of the fire, and the topography of the site burned (Kane et al. 2007; Payette et al. 2000; Stocks et al. 2002). Fire is the major natural disturbance driving forest succession and the spatial variations introduce heterogeneity in the vegetation mosaic of the boreal forest landscapes (Van Wagner 1978; Lecomte et al. 2005).

Landscapes are marked by different fire regimes and have different proportions of old uneven-aged stands and young stands dominated by pioneer species (Van Wagner 1978; Chabot et al. 2009). As, in the long term, forest management influences landscape stands composition and structure (Bormann et al. 1979). Ecosystem-based management is recommended to reduce ecological differences between natural and managed ecosystems (Seymour and Hunter 1999; Burton et al. 1999; Gauthier et al. 2004). Silvicultural strategies are developed to meet management objectives, based on knowledge and understanding of natural forest dynamics and site attributes (Bergeron et al. 2007; Belleau 2009). Therefore, partial cuts might be used to recreate or maintain old open forest structures (Lecomte and Bergeron et al. 2005). A forest mosaic is a complex system and is in constantly changing, and these changes could have a negative impact on planned timber harvest and production disruptions especially in long strategic planning extending over 150 years.

### Risk and uncertainty in timber supply analyses

The concept of risk exists in many areas and different approaches can be used to define them. In forestry decision analysis Kangas and Kangas (2004) dealt with different definitions, sources, theories and classifications of uncertainty. In the decision-making process, risk management is defined as a process, which combines risk assessment with knowledge and understanding on how to address the risk within the larger decision process (Annaert 2007; Käki et al. 2013.).

Risk assessments systemise the knowledge and uncertainties about the likelihood of threats to determine the magnitude of damage and establish whether measures are needed to mitigate or control risks to an acceptable or tolerable level or to support the decision-making process (Wynne 1992; Aven 2011). When a risk cannot be reduced, or eliminated, the focus must turn toward reducing vulnerabilities by describing the susceptibility of exposed elements to injury or damage due to hazardous events (Banks 2009). Under climate change scenarios, forests are considered more vulnerable over the long term (Lawrence 2011). In Canada climate, change will have an important impact on natural disturbances and may strongly affect the economic productivity and represent potential losses (Flannigan et al. 2009). A main issue is how to cope with such losses. Several options have been proposed to reduce the occurrence and the negative outcome of a natural disturbance, many of them focused on diversification and silvicultural strategies (Brunette and Couture, 2013). The theory of natural disturbances as sources of uncertainties in timber supply analyses was already included for several authors (Reed and Errico 1986; Armstrong 2004; Peter and Nelson 2005). A timber supply model is used to project long-term sustainable forest management providing schedule of harvesting in an uncertain environment (Regan et al. 2005; Raulier et al.2014).

Modelling developed by experts (Sheppard and Meitner 2005) can be used to predict and generate options that can help in the decision-making process of managers and other responsible persons. Forest managers are seeking to protect against wildfires by

3

incorporating mechanisms arranged in advance of a loss, including insurance, hedging, diversification, withdrawal, and so on that neutralize or offset the original risk (Banks 2009). Given this context, I compare different fire mitigation strategies in forest management planning.

#### Thesis outline

The aim of this thesis is to incorporate risk into timber harvest planning by optimization and simulation model. The three main chapters in this thesis have common objectives that link both the research related to forest management planning under risk in an uncertain environment.

#### This thesis is composed of three chapters.

*In the first chapter* an actuarial approach based on cumulative probability distributions was developed to reduce the adverse effects of wildfire. To this effect, I developed spatially explicit landscape models to simulate the interactions between harvest, fire and forest succession over time in a boreal forest of eastern Canada. I estimated the amount of reduction of timber harvest necessary to build a buffer stock of sufficient size to cover fire losses and compared it to an insurance premium estimated in units of timber volume from the probability of occurrence and the amount of damage.

*In the second chapter* I examined the impact of uncertainty concerning current and future fire cycles on timber supply management (Mm<sup>3</sup>/ period<sup>-1</sup>), the goal being to analyze the levels of vulnerability via the estimation of the production of timber, while excluding low-productivity stands considered vulnerable to wildfire and evaluating the likelihood that those loss event

will impact planned timber harvest. I combined fire occurrence processes alongside the harvest schedule to evaluate quantitative fire survival likelihood probabilities.

*In the third chapter*, using the same spatially explicit landscape model and forest management planning model, I evaluated flexible approaches by combining a reduction of timber harvest necessary to build a buffer stock with alternative silvicultural practices (partial cutting) for managing forested ecosystem under an assumption that the future fire regime will increase, the efficacy of which being challenged by the rate of success of planned timber harvest.

## References

Annaert, J., Deelstra, G., Heyman, D., and Vanmaele, M. 2007. Risk management of a bond portfolio using options. Insurance: Mathematics and Economics, 3: 299-316.

Armstrong, G.W. 2004. Sustainability of timber supply considering the risk of wildfire. For. Sci. 50: 626–639.

Aven, T. 2011. A risk concept applicable for both probabilistic and non-probabilistic perspectives. Safety science, 8: 1080-1086.

Banks, E. 2009. Risk and Financial Catastrophe; Finance and Capital Markets Series; Palgrave Macmillan: p. 213.

Belleau, A., Y. Bergeron, A. Leduc, S. Gauthier and A. Fall. 2007. Using spatially explicit simulations to explore size distribution and spacing of regenerating areas produced by wildfires: recommendations for designing harvest agglomerations for the Canadian boreal forest. The Forestry Chronicle 83: 72–83.

Belleau, A. and S. Légaré. 2009. Project Tembec: Towards the implementation of a forest management strategy based on the natural disturbance dynamics of the northern Abitibi region. *In* S. Gauthier, M.-A. Vaillancourt, A. Leduc, L. De Grandpré, D. Kneeshaw, H. Morin, P. Drapeau and Y. Bergeron (eds.). Ecosystem Management in the Boreal Forest. pp. 479–499. Presses de l'Université du Québec.

Burton, J., Kneeshaw D, and. Coates K. 1999. Managing forest harvesting to maintain old growth in boreal and sub-boreal forests. For. Chron. 75:623-631.

Bergeron, O., Margolis, H. Black, T., Coursolle, C., Dunn, A., Barr, A., and Wofsy, S. 2007. Comparison of carbon dioxide fluxes over three boreal black spruce forests in Canada. Global Change Biology, 1: 89-107.

Bergeron, Y., Cyr, D., Girardin, M.P., Carcaillet, C., 2010. Will climate change drive 21st century burn rates in Canadian boreal forest outside of its natural variability: collating global climate model experiments with sedimentary charcoal data. Int. J. Wildland Fire 19: 1127–1139.

Bormann, F., and Likens, G. 1979. Catastrophic disturbance and the steady state in northern hardwood forests: A new look at the role of disturbance in the development of forest ecosystems suggests important implications for land-use policies. American Scientist, 6: 660-669.

Brunette, M., Couture, S., 2013. Risk management behaviour of a forest owner against growth risk. Agric. Resour. Econ. Rev. 2: 349–364.

Burton, P., Messier, C., and Smith, D. 2003. Towards sustainable management of the boreal forest (pp. 1-40). W. L. Adamowicz (Ed.). Ottawa: NRC Research Press.

Canadian Interagency Forest Fire Centre (CIFFC). 2015. http://www.ciffc.ca/

Canadian Council of Forest Ministers CCFM. 2008. A Vision for Canadas Forests, 2008 and Beyond. Canadian Council of Forest Ministers. Ottawa, Canada. 16 pp.

Chabot, E., *Blanchet*, P. Drapeau, F. Fortin, S. Gauthier, L. Imbeau, G. Lacasse, G. Lemaire, Nappi A., Quenneville R., and Thiffault E. 2009. Le feu en milieu forestier. Pages 393–416 Manuel de Foresterie (2ème édition). Éditions M. Québec.

Flannigan M, Logan K, Amiro B, Skinner W., and Stocks B. 2005. Future area burned in Canada. Climatic Change 72: 1–16.

Flannigan, M., Stocks, B., Turetsky, M., and Wotton, M. 2009. Impacts of climate change on fire activity and fire management in the circumboreal forest. Global Change Biology, 15: 549-560.

Ferguson, I. S. 1996. Sustainable forest management. Oxford University Press Australia.

Flato, G., Boer, G., Lee, W., McFarlane, N., Ramden, D., Reader, M., Weaver, A. 2000. The Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis global coupled model and its climate. Clim. Dyn. 16: 451–467.

Gauthier, S., Nguyen, T., Bergeron, Y., Leduc, A., Drapeau, P., Grondin, P., 2004. Developing forest management strategies based on fire regimes in northwestern Quebec. In: Perera, A.H., Buse, L.J., Weber, M.G. (Eds.), Emulating Natural Forest Landscape Disturbance. Columbia University Press, New York, pp. 219–229.

Haeussler, S., and Kneeshaw, D. 2003. Comparing forest management to natural processes. Chapter 9. In Towards sustainable management of the boreal forest, First Ed. Edited by P.J. Burton, C. Messier, D.W. Smith and W.L. Adamowicz. NRC Research Press. Otawa, Canada, pp. 307-368.

IPCC. 2007. Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) of the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK; New-York, USA.

Käki, A., Salo, A., and Talluri, S. 2013. Disruptions in supply networks: a Probabilistic Risk Assessment approach.

Kane, E. S., E. S. Kasischke, D. W. Valentine, M. R. Turetsky, and A. D. McGuire. 2007. Topographic influences on wildfire consumption of soil organic carbon in interior Alaska: Implications for black carbon accumulation. Journal of Geophysical Research, 112: 1–11.

Kangas, A., and Kangas, J. 2004. Probability, possibility and evidence: approaches to consider risk and uncertainty in forestry decision analysis. Forest policy and economics, 2: 169-188.

Lawrence, A. 2011. Human dimensions of adaptive forest management and climate change: a review of international experience.

Lecomte, N., and Bergeron, Y. 2005. Successional pathways on different surficial deposits in the coniferous boreal forest of the Quebec Clay Belt. Can. J. For. Res. (35), 1984-1995.

Lecomte, N. 2005. Successional pathways on different surficial deposits in the coniferous boreal forest of the Quebec Clay Belt. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 35: 1984–1995.

Randall, D., Wood, R., Bony, S., Colman, R., Fichefet, T., Fyfe, J., and Stouffer, R. 2007. Climate models and their evaluation. In Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC (FAR) (pp. 589-662). Cambridge University Press.

Raulier F, Dhital N, Racine P, Tittler R, Fall A. 2014. Increasing resilience of timber supply: how a variable buffer stock of timber can efficiently reduce exposure to shortfalls caused by wildfires. For Policy Econ 46:47–55.

Reed, W.; Errico, D. 1986. Optimal harvest scheduling at the forest level in the presence of the risk of fire. Can. J. For. Res., 16: 266–278.

Regan, H., Ben-Haim, Y., Langford, B., Wilson, W., Lundberg, P., Andelman, S., and Burgman, M. 2005. Robust decision-making under severe uncertainty for conservation management. Ecological applications, 4: 1471-1477.

Robitaille, A., Saucier, J.P., 1998. Paysages Régionaux du Québec Méridional. Les publications du Québec, Sainte-Foy, Québec, Canada.

Rowe, J. S., and G. W. Scotter. 1973. Fire in the boreal. Quaternary Research. 3: 444–464.

Seymour, R. and. Hunter M. Jr. 1999. Principles of ecological forestry. *In* M.L. Hunter Jr. (ed.). Maintaining Biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp 22-61.

Sheppard, S., and Meitner, M. .2005. Using multi-criteria analysis and visualisation for sustainable forest management planning with stakeholder groups. Forest ecology and management, 1: 171-187.

Stocks, B., Mason, J., Todd, J., Bosch, E., Wotton, B., Amiro, B., Skinner, W. 2002. Large forest fires in Canada, 1959–1997. Journal of Geophysical Research 108: 1–12.

Van Wagner, C.E. 1978. Age-class distribution and the forest fire cycle. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 8: 220-227.

Wein, R.W. and MacLean, D.A. 1983. An overview of fire in northern eco- systems [C]. In: The role of fire in northern circumpolar ecosystems. New York: John Wiley and Sons, pp 1-18.

Wynne, B. 1992. Uncertainty and environmental learning: reconceiving science and policy in the preventive paradigm. Global environmental change, 2: 111-127.

# **Chapter 1: Rating a Wildfire Mitigation Strategy with an Insurance Premium: A Boreal Forest Case Study**

Georgina Rodriguez-Baca, Frédéric Raulier, Alain Leduc

This chapter has been published and can be cited as:

Rodriguez-Baca, G., Raulier, F., & Leduc, A. (2016). Rating a Wildfire Mitigation Strategy with an Insurance Premium: A Boreal Forest Case Study. *Forests*, 7(5), 107.

### Résumé

Dans la forêt boréale d'Amérique du Nord, les feux de forêt sont un moteur clé de la dynamique forestière et peuvent entraîner des pertes économiques très importantes. Une approche actuarielle de l'analyse des risques fondée sur les distributions de probabilité cumulatives a été élaborée afin de réduire les effets négatifs des incendies de forêt. À cet effet, nous avons élaboré des scénarios spatialement explicites pour simuler les interactions entre la récolte, le feu et la succession forestière au fil du temps dans une forêt boréale de l'est du Canada. Nous avons estimé la réduction du volume de récolte de bois nécessaire à couvrir les pertes liées à un incendie forestier. Nous avons comparé cette réduction de récolte à une stratégie consistant en l'achat d'une prime d'assurance estimée en unités de volume de bois à partir de la probabilité d'occurrence et de l'importance des dommages. Dans l'ensemble, la réduction du volume de récolte de bois s'avérait plus coûteuse que la prime d'assurance, même avec un taux d'intérêt nul. Cela est dû au fait que la prime d'assurance est directement liée au risque alors que la réduction de récolte de bois ne l'est pas et est par conséquent moins efficace. Ces résultats, en particulier la comparaison avec un indicateur standard comme une prime d'assurance, ont des implications utiles au moment de choisir une stratégie d'atténuation pour protéger les approvisionnements en bois contre les risques de pertes sans diminuer de façon excessive les approvisionnements. Ils encouragent également le recours à des assurances contre les événements désastreux dans la planification de la gestion forestière.

#### Abstract

Risk analysis entails the systematic use of historical information to determine the frequency, magnitude and effects of unexpected events. Wildfire in boreal North America is a key driver of forest dynamics and may cause very significant economic losses. An actuarial approach to risk analysis based on cumulative probability distributions was developed to reduce the adverse effects of wildfire. To this effect, we developed spatially explicit landscape models to simulate the interactions between harvest, fire and forest succession over time in a boreal forest of eastern Canada. We estimated the amount of reduction of timber harvest necessary to build a buffer stock of sufficient size to cover fire losses and compared it to an insurance premium estimated in units of timber volume from the probability of occurrence and the amount of damage. Overall, the timber harvest reduction we applied was much more costly than the insurance premium even with a zero interest rate. This is due to the fact that the insurance premium is directly related to risk while the timber harvest reduction is not and, as a consequence, is much less efficient. These results, especially the comparison with a standard indicator such as an insurance premium, have useful implications at the time of choosing a mitigation strategy to protect timber supplies against risk without overly diminishing the provision of services from the forest. They are also promoting the use of insurance against disastrous events in forest management planning.

### Introduction

Human activities depend on the sustainability of natural resources and proving sustainability requires making forecasts. In forest management, uncertainty is an important issue in the support of any planning decision and in evaluating the consequences of alternative strategies (Kangas et Kangas 2005). Uncertainty stems from known variability (risk), lack of knowledge (uncertainty), ignorance and indeterminacy (Wynne 1992). Ignorance and indeterminacy are difficult to account for, cannot be anticipated and require scenario planning (Peterson et al. 2003) or adaptive methods (Wynne 1992). Risk and uncertainty are somewhat easier to evaluate beforehand with risk analysis methods (Hoffman and Hammonds 1994). Such analyses are required when there is a possibility that the outcome of an event can deviate from expectations and have a negative effect on an objective (Bagajewicz and Uribe 2008). For instance, the negative effect of a disturbance on the profits from timber harvesting provides the cost of that disturbance (Armstrong and Cumming 2003).

Situations where risk and uncertainty are at the core of the problem as it is in risk management require different strategies and coherent risk measures (Bertsimas et al. 2004). The development of methods to account for risk and uncertainty has made considerable progress and they already play a role in environmental decision-making, particularly in cases of severe uncertainty due to extremely long planning horizons (Hildebrandt and Knoke 2011). Although the application of risk analysis in forest planning remains rare (Von Gadow and Hui 2001), attention to risk analysis in forestry should grow even more in the coming years (Yousefpour et al. 2012; Pasalodos-Tato et al. 2013).

Forest managers should account for many different sources of risk and uncertainty, one of them being wildfire. Fire is a critical component of terrestrial and atmospheric dynamics

13

(Flannigan et al. 2009) and is a primary driver of forest dynamics across the boreal forest region of North America. Fire is also a major source of risk and uncertainty that can cause important damages to timber resources (Taylor et al. 2006). Fire-dominated forests present challenges when designing forest management plans that maximize sustained and constant harvest volume flows because of the wide spatial and temporal variation in the frequency and severity of fire events (Martell et al. 1998). In Canada, each year, fire burns large portions of the forest area, which causes significant losses to management agencies (Boychuk and Martell 1996). Despite the uncertainty, that characterizes forest management planning; most planning models used for strategic planning remain deterministic in North America (Kaya et al. 2016; Bettinger and Chung 2004).

Linear mathematical programming (LP) is the approach most often applied in practice to such planning problems (Siry et al. 2015; Gunn 2007), despite the fact that many other techniques exist (Kaya et al. 2016), the assumption that all data are assumed to be known exactly and the fact that decisions made today with optimal solutions will probably be suboptimal in the future (Acuña et al. 2010). Incorporating a fire regime into timber harvest-level determination procedures leads to reductions in harvest levels when desiring a sustainable timber harvest (Boychuk and Martell 1996; Van Wagner 1983; Reed and Errico 1986). Such reductions help implement a timber buffer stock, providing a contingency inventory in the case of unexpected timber losses. The implementation of such measures therefore implies losses of short-term revenues that must be thoroughly justified and understood.

Successful methods of dealing with uncertainty and risk need to be simple and comprehensible enough to be useful in planning and decision-making in forestry practice (Armstrong 2004). The best strategy for dealing with uncertainty depends on the risk preference of the decision makers, how much risk they are willing to face, and the degree of uncertainty involved. One example of a successful method is the cost-plus-loss analysis, which estimates the cost of sub-optimal decisions. It has been used effectively to justify the costs implied by sampling intensity in forest inventory (Eid 2000; Borders et al. 2008), the cost of fire-fighting (examples provided in (Martell et al. 1998) or the cost of forest planning (Duveno et al. 2014). In practice, the minimization of risk exposures and potential losses involves risk processes with one or more techniques considered in the context of financial and nonfinancial exposures (Banks 2009).

Financial risk modelling refers to the use of formal econometric techniques to determine the aggregate risk of a financial portfolio that depends on the probability distributions of losses that can arise from damage. Actuaries combine the likelihood and size information to provide average, or expected losses (Baranoff et al. 2204). For instance, Value at Risk (VaR) is a widely used risk measure (Jorion 2002), is easy to explain and easy to estimate (Ardia 2008; Hoogerheide and Van Dijk 2010). In portfolio management, Bagajewicz and Barbaro (2003) defined VaR as the worst expected loss under normal market conditions over a specific time interval and at a given confidence level. VaR has become a popular risk measure used by both regulated banks as well as investment practitioners. Although specific indicators such as VaR cannot guarantee the identification of the best risk-reduced solution, in many instances the use of different risk measures help identify potentially robust solutions.

With financial risk management, the expected loss is expressed in monetary terms. One lossadaptation option is insurance (Holecy and Hanewinkel 2006). Insurance transfers the cost of financing losses in exchange for a premium. For instance, a forest manager may seek to

15

protect his planning decisions against wildfire and he can purchase an insurance policy from an insurer by paying a premium to receive a compensatory payment that should cover the loss generated by fire (Banks 2009 ). The determination of the premium to pay for the cover requires evaluating risk as an actuarial process of valuing the insurable risk, i.e., by summing the values at risk compounded at the start of the planning horizon. Such an insurance strategy covering losses caused by fires may be interesting if the interest rate is higher than the mean volume increment rate of the forest under study.

The idea of insurance in forestry is not new, it was proposed decades ago by Shepard (1935; 1937) who noticed that the proper valuation of forest properties is a necessary prerequisite to any successful fire-insurance undertaking. Holecy and Hanewinkel (2006) proposed an actuarial model calculating appropriate probabilities to estimate insurance premiums. Lankoande et al. (2005) evaluated efficient wildfire insurance in the presence of government intervention through a subsidy for risk. Chen et al. (2014) proposed an insurance instrument to protect timber owners against wildfire risks as a management instrument. Although insurance is an effective mechanism to lessen the burden of loss by wildfire and is simple to explain, studies in wildfire insurance still remain limited.

The main objective of this study was therefore to provide a comparative analysis of the alternative advantages produced by two different risk management strategies: insurance premium and timber harvest reduction to build a buffer stock of timber. In the context of planning and scheduling forest harvesting, the first aim of our study was thus to quantify potential harvest losses due to wildfire under an ecosystem-based management scenario in an eastern Canadian boreal forest. We used a linear programming (LP)-based timber harvest scheduling model to determine the maximum even-flow harvest volume a forest area can

sustain over the planning horizon. Interaction between fire and harvest was simulated with a landscape dynamics model to evaluate harvest losses, insurance premium and amount of buffer stock required to cover such loss.

### Materials and methods

#### **Study Area**

The study area corresponds to the Forest Management Unit 085-51 located between 48° 50' N and 50° 09' N latitude, and between 78° 05' W and 79° 31' W longitude in western Quebec, Canada (Figure 1.1). It belongs to the bioclimatic domain of balsam fir-white birch to the south (14%) and black spruce-feather mosses to the north (86%) (Robitaille and Saucier 1998). Mean annual temperature varies from -2.5° C to 0° C, and total precipitation from 700 to 800 mm. The area covers 1.08 million ha, of which 542,000 hectares are timber productive. Black spruce (Picea mariana (Mill.) B.S.P.), and jack pine (Pinus banksiana Lamb.) are the most abundant tree species and also the most economically important ones. Hardwoods such as trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides Michx*) and white birch (*Betula papyrifera Marsh*), and to a lesser extent, balsam poplar (Populus balsamifera) can also occur in mixture with black spruce. The forest dynamics in the region may be simplified into three main successional pathways either dominated by black spruce, jack pine or trembling aspen (Nguyen-Xuan 2002; Bergeron et al. 2002). Fire dominates the natural disturbance regime in the study area (Bergeron et al. 2002; Gauthier et al. 2004). Current (1920–2000) and past fire cycles (1850–1920) were estimated to be around 398 and 135 years (Kangas and Kangas 2005). Forest management planning should account for climate change as it should affect fire regimes in the boreal forest of North America (Bergeron et al. 2006). For our study area, fire

burn rate is projected to increase gradually over the period 2001-2100. Bergeron et al. (2010) estimated that under B1 (2 x CO<sub>2</sub>) and A2 (3 xCO<sub>2</sub>) climate scenarios, fire cycles should lower to around 254 and 79 years respectively, values lying either in between the current and historical fire cycles (Cyr et al. 2009) or below the historical fire cycle.



**Figure 1.1.** Location of study area Forest Management Unit 085-51. Grey polygons correspond to operating areas (Belleau et al.2009).

#### **Timber supply model**

We formulated the timber supply model as an optimization problem solved with linear programming, as it is the current practice in Quebec. No mitigation strategies were included at first against potential fire losses. The planning horizon was set to 150 years and divided into 30 periods of 5 years. The objective function of this model maximized harvest volume (i.e., Mm3/period-<sup>1</sup>) (Equation 1.1). The first constraint provided an even flow of harvest

volume over time (Equation 1.2). For harvest planning purposes, the study area was divided into different spatially organized compartments (operating areas between 30 km<sup>2</sup> and 150 km<sup>2</sup>) as a function of canopy closure and species composition (Belleau 2009) to emulate fire size distribution (Bergeron et al 2004). These operating areas are open to harvest when more than 30% of their timber productive area is eligible to harvest (Equation 1.3) ( Dhital et al. 2013). Planting of jack pine after a clear-cut was limited to less than the actual plantation level (7500 ha per period (Equation 1.4). A forest age structure was also targeted with a minimal abundance of three age classes (0–150 years: 63%, 150–275 years: 21% and more than 275 years: 16%) (Equation (1.5) (Gauthier et al. 2004). Two harvesting systems were implemented, careful logging around advanced regeneration (Groot et al. 2005) and irregular shelter-wood cuts (50% removal of merchantable volume; (Raymond et al. 2009). The areas planned to be harvested must be positive (Equation 1.6).

Let

```
o: operational area (1 ... 107)

s: successional pathway (1 ... 3)

p: period (1 ... 30)

a: stand age

h: harvest type (1 ... 2)

c: cohort number (1 ... 3)
```

 $T_C$ : Timber production area belonging to cohort c,  $\forall$  c, following the targeted forest structure Variables

$$\begin{split} X_{op} &= \begin{cases} 1, \text{if operating area is open to harvest} \\ 0, \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \forall o, p \\ A_{ashop} : \text{Area harvested (ha)}, \forall a, s, h, o, p \\ e_{ashop} \text{: Area eligible for harvest (ha)}, \forall a, s, h, o, p \\ C_{cp} \text{: Area belonging to cohort c (ha)}, \forall c, p \end{split}$$

Parameters

$$V_{ashop}$$
: Volume yield (m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>),  $\forall a, s, h, o, p$ 

Objective function

$$Z = \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} \sum_{p=1}^{30} V_{asohp} A_{asohp},$$
(1.1)

Subject to

$$\sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asoh(p-1)} A_{asoh(p-1)} - \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asohp} A_{asohp} = 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

$$A_{asohp} \le e_{asohp} X_{op} \forall a, s, o, h, p,$$
(1.3)

$$A_{hp} \le 7500, h$$
 being a clear cut followed by a jack pine plantation,  $\forall p$ , (1.4)

$$C_{cp} \ge T_c, \forall c; p \in [11; 30],$$
 (1.5)

$$A_{asop} \ge 0. \tag{1.6}$$

To develop the timber supply model (Model II formulation— (Davis et al. 2001, pp. 608–611)), we used the Remsoft Spatial Planning System (version 2013.12, Remsoft, Fredericton, NB, Canada) and solved it with Mosek 5.0. (Mosek ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark).

#### Interaction between Harvest Scheduling and Stochastic Processes

We simulated the interaction existing between harvest, fire and forest succession by adapting pre-existing modules of harvest, fire and succession already developed in the Spatially Explicit Landscape Event Simulator (SELES) (Fall and Fall 2001). Inputs are spatial rasters (forest type, stand age, operating areas), data tables (e.g., yield curves, harvested area planned by harvesting systems per operating area and per period, matrix of succession probabilities, other parameters such as a mean burn rate and a mean fire size).

Fire was modeled as a percolation process (Cumming 2001) parameterized from historical fire occurrence data (Gauthier et al. 2004) to reproduce basic characteristics of a fire regime (Fall et al. 2004). The model uses a negative exponential distribution to determine the number of fires and a Weibull distribution to determine fire sizes (Bouchard and Pothier

2011). Simulated fires burn independently of terrain, and there is equal forest flammability regardless of stand age (Van Wagner 1983; Gauthier et al. 2015). The harvest module prioritized the harvest of salvageable volume (30% of pre-fire standing volume) and subsequently the harvest scheduled by the timber supply model. If the harvest module was not able to find the harvest volume planned in designed operating areas, then it selected productive stands (with a volume greater than 50 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>) not prescribed in the harvest plan until it reached the targeted timber supply level.

Disturbance-specific changes in forest composition and age structure drive the interactions between fire, succession and harvest. Natural succession was modelled as a semi-Markov process (Fall et al. 2004) with probabilities of transition estimated from the proportions of each stratum by stand age class (20-year interval) observed in the forest map. The spatial resolution of the model was 10 ha per pixel and the temporal resolution five years. We performed 100 replications of each scenario, which provided stable estimates of indicators, especially VaR (Raulier et al. 2014). We used the technique of common random numbers (Schruben 1979) to reduce the variability generated by random effects between the scenarios (Law and Kelton 1982). Simulation outputs allowed us to quantify loss likelihood distributions and estimate insurance premiums as detailed below.

#### **Risk Management**

Simulation results with the landscape dynamics model served to estimate loss distributions (frequency distributions of differences between planned and harvested volumes per period). Value at Risk served to assess risk was estimated with the 5th percentile ( $\alpha$ ) of the loss (*L*) distribution for a given period *p*:
$$\operatorname{Prob}\left(\mathcal{L}_{p} \leq \operatorname{VaR}_{p}\right) = \alpha. \tag{1.7}$$

VaR computation was performed using the R statistical software environment (R Foundation 2014).

#### **Risk Characterization**

If fire risk is indeed part of the risk of timber supply disruptions, another part results from the inadequate consideration of fire risk in the timber supply planning process (Boychuk and Martell 1996). We have assumed with the timber supply model used in the present study that fire suppression is totally effective (i.e., no fire risk), which is not true (Flannigan et al. 2009) and, consequently, overly optimistic. Risk can therefore be subdivided into two different risk types, effective risk, when effectively implementing planned forest management strategies despite fire risk, and planning risk caused by the optimism of the planning procedure.

To distinguish both sources of risk, we fixed a planned timber harvest (PTH) threshold below which PTH is equal to the median realized harvest level that has been simulated with the landscape dynamics model (Leduc et al. 2015) and above which PTH cannot fully be implemented anymore because of fire disturbances. Below this threshold, risk of losses (difference between median and 5th percentile) is caused by fire risk only. Above this threshold, risk of losses is a compound of risks caused by fire and planning optimism.

To characterize risk, we therefore looked for three PTH values, one for which no risk exists (*i.e.*, disruptions not occurring anymore, such that  $VaR_p = 0, \forall p$ ), one for which risk is the highest while respecting all the constraints of the timber supply model and one for which PTH is equal to the median realized harvest level. We used the landscape simulation model for this purpose by decreasing the PTH originally estimated with the timber supply model by

steps of 10% until no risk occurred anymore for three fire cycles. We then estimated the parameters of a piecewise linear model with one knot between realized harvest and planned timber supply values:

$$\tilde{h} = PTH \text{ if } PTH \leq PTH_{th}, \tilde{h} = PTH_{th} + \beta(PTH - PTH_{th}) \text{ if } PTH > PTH_{th},$$
(1.8)

where  $\tilde{h}$  is the periodic median realized harvest implemented with the landscape simulation model, *PTH* is the timber harvest planned with the timber supply model and  $\beta$  and *PTH*<sub>th</sub> are parameters estimated with the MODEL procedure (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

#### **Insurance Premium**

A loss function proportional to the forest value may serve to characterize wildfire risk in a forest. Forest managers may seek to be protected against wildfire damages to timber supply by taking out an insurance contract. We therefore calculated the insurance premium with probabilities of the potential losses provided with periodic VaRs. Putting this into a formula, one needs to find the value of a periodic premium (P) such that (Equation (9)):

$$\sum_{p=1}^{30} (P - VaR_p) \quad \frac{1}{(1+i)^{5*p-2.5}} = 0, \tag{1.9}$$

where p corresponds to a number of five-year periods, and i is an interest rate. Harvest is assumed to take place in the middle of the period (hence the term \_2.5). We selected different interest rates (0%, 1%, 2%, and 4%) used for discount rates for public investment (Moore et al. 2004). Statistical computations were performed using the R statistical software environment (R Foundation 2014).

### **Timber Supply Reduction**

To prevent operational disruptions, a reduction in periodic wood harvest can be used to build a buffer stock of timber (Boychuk and Martell 1996) serving as a back-up plan in the event that a supply disruption occurs. A supply disruption occurred whenever realized timber harvest was below 90% of the planned timber harvest volume (Peter and Nelson 2005). We were interested in estimating the harvest target reduction that helped deal with timber losses caused by only fire and therefore used the difference between the maximum PTH value equal to the median realized harvest level (*PTH*<sub>th</sub> in Equation 1.8) and the one for which disruptions do not occur anymore (*i.e.*,  $VaR_p = 0$ ,  $\forall p$ ).

#### Comparison of risk management strategies

At first, we estimated harvest loss distributions by simulating the implementation of the timber supply solution with the landscape simulation model for three fire cycles (100, 200 and 400 years). Simulations were then redone with the landscape simulation model for the three fire cycles by reducing the PTH value by steps of 10% until we found a PTH value that could be implemented with no risks. Periodic VaR<sub>p</sub> and median VaR values were computed from these loss distributions. We also used these simulation results to estimate the parameters of piecewise linear models (Equation (1.8)) in order to find the PTH value equal to the median realized harvest level for each considered fire cycle. Premium insurance was then computed (Equation (9)) for a range of interest rates used for public investments (0%, 1%, 2% and 4%) (Moore et al. 2004) at the threshold PTH value equal to the median realized harvest level. Finally, we compared the timber supply reductions required to cancel risk to insurance premiums for each fire cycle.

# Results

## **Risk Assessment**

Periodic timber harvest with an ecosystem management strategy may reach values up to approximately 3.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup> in an environment where no fire occurs (Equation 1.1). However, a blind implementation of such a strategy will not enable the procurement of expected timber levels (Figure 1.2) and timber supply disruptions caused by fire are expected (Figure 1.3). Despite the likely occurrence of such disruptions, the median rate of planning success reaches 97% (3.7 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) of the optimal solution provided by the timber supply model with a fire cycle of 400 years and decreases only up to 73% (2.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) with a fire cycle of 100 years (Figure 1.2). The chances of obtaining such a rate of success are, however, threatened by infrequent but possibly very significant disruptions. Timber supply disruptions may start to occur as soon as the 6th planning period (30 years) and, depending on the considered fire cycle, either tend to disappear after 50 years (and occur again approximately after one mean stand rotation) or maintain themselves for the rest of the planning horizon (Figure 1.3).



**Figure 1.2**. Box and whiskers plots representing the probability distributions of the simulated implementation of the optimal solution ( $3.8 \text{ Mm}^3 \text{ period}^{-1}$ ) provided by the timber supply model (Equations (1.1)–(1.6)) under current (400 years) and probable interval for future fire regimes (100 and 200 years).

Maximum periodic VaRs, which provide an indication of the expected vulnerability of timber supplies to wildfire, are substantial in our study area (2.1 to 2.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) and represent 55 to 74% of the periodic timber harvest, depending on the fire regime that is considered. Median VaR across the planning horizon with the longest fire cycle (400) years is substantially lower than the maximum VaR (0.9 *vs.* 2.2 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) when compared to that resulting from a fire cycle of 100 years (2.4 *vs.* 2.9 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>), indicating more frequent occurrences of important timber supply disruption throughout the planning horizon with a higher burn rate (Figure 1.3c).

Successive implementation of a portion (30% to 90%) of the optimized timber supply solution helped find a median realized harvest level equal to PTH values for timber harvest levels up of 2.8 to 3.3 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>, depending on the considered fire cycle (Figure 1.4, Table 1.1). At the threshold PTH value beyond which the implementation success decreases, median VaR values (0.02 to 1.12 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup> depending on the fire cycle) are much lower than those induced by the implementation of the entire optimized timber supply solution. They are in fact reduced by a factor varying between two and 20. Maximum VaR values are less reduced, by a factor between 1.6 (for a fire cycle of 100 years) and 1.9 (for a fire cycle of 400 years). This means that ignoring fire in the timber supply model and assuming that fire risk is totally controlled (planning optimism) increased the risk of supply disruptions by almost one order of magnitude, even with a fire cycle of 400 years. Such increased risk is,

however, accompanied by an increase in realized harvest level, the rate of which varies between 0% and 60% (= slope of the second segment of the piecewise regression) (Figure 1.4, Table 1.1). This increase is only significant with a fire cycle of 400 years (Table 1.1).



Figure 1.3. Probability distributions of the success rate of the simulated harvest schedule implementation under current ((a) 400 years) and probable future fire regimes ((b) 200 years; (c) 100 years). From bottom up, broken and bold lines represent the 5th, median and 95th percentiles. One hundred percent represents the target (continuous line) and ninety percent correspond to a cutoff value below which a timber supply disruption was considered to occur (Schruben 1979).

**Table 1.1.** Parameter values of piecewise linear models with one knot (threshold planned timber harvest (PTH)) (Equation (8)) relating PTH and periodic median realized harvest levels implemented with the landscape simulation model under current (400 years) and probable interval for future fire regimes (100 and 200 years).

Fire Cycle	Threshold PTH (Mm <sup>3</sup> Period <sup>-1</sup> )	β
100	2.77 (0.18)	0.04 (0.26) <sup>a</sup>
200	3.23 (0.15)	-0.01 (0.39) <sup>a</sup>

400	3.34 (0.18)	0.60 (0.25)
	(0.10)	

<sup>a</sup> Not significantly different from 0 at  $\alpha = 0.05$  (p = 0.78 and p = 0.96, respectively). Numbers in parentheses represent a half-confidence interval.



**Figure 1.4.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and its simulated implementation (median value) when considering the risk of fire for three fire cycles (100, 200 and 400 years). Parameters of the segmented linear models are provided in Table 1. Error bars represent the 5th and 95th percentiles of the probability distribution of simulated harvest levels.

### **Risk Management Strategies**

Timber harvest reductions are required to deal with wildfire risk throughout the planning horizon: according to a timber harvest reduction strategy, a 23% of harvest reduction is necessary to avoid significant disruptions (*i.e.*,  $VaR_p = 0$ ,  $\forall p$ ) with the current fire regime (400 years, Figure 1.3), and such reductions increase to 40% and 52% for fire cycles of 200 and 100 years, respectively. Harvest reductions therefore seem to increase non-linearly with an increase of the fire cycle (*i.e.*, +9%/100 years between 200 and 400 years and +12%/100

years between 100 and 200 years). In fact, the sensitivity of maximum VaR to a timber harvest reduction decreases as maximum VaR tends to zero (Figure 1.5). Depending on the interest rate and the fire cycle, we looked at the changes in the amount of insurance premium an insurer should hold against unexpected losses as a function of fire risk (Figure 1.6). Insurance premiums represent between 0.6% and 1.0% of the level of supply for a fire cycle of 400 years (Figure 1.6), which are noticeably lower than for a timber harvest reduction strategy. With a change of fire cycle between 200 and 400 years, premium increases are also lower than those of a timber supply reduction strategy (between 3% and 10%/100 years depending on the interest rate), but increase more between 100 and 200 (between 4% and 16%/100 years). Such premium increases are more directly related to an increase in median VaR rather than to an increase in fire cycle (Figure 1.7).



**Figure 1.5.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and maximum value at risk for three fire cycles.



**Figure 1.6.** Distribution of the planned timber harvest into: a part that is not entirely feasible (planning optimism, in white, see Figure 1.4), a part that should be used to build a buffer stock of timber (dark gray) (with a timber harvest reduction—THR, which should not be harvested, or with an insurance premium, which should be harvested and set apart, with an interest rate between 0% and 4%) (protection strategy), and a part available for harvest (light grey), considering three possible fire cycles.



**Figure 1.7.** Relationship between median value-at-risk (VaR) and insurance premium as a function of interest rates (0% to 4%) and present (400 years) or probable fire cycles (100 and 200 years).

# Discussion

We have evaluated two strategies to protect timber supply against disruptions with the objective of achieving over the planning horizon at least 90% of the planned harvest level: an insurance policy based on probabilities of potential losses and a reduction of timber harvest. Both mitigation strategies help build a buffer stock of available timber as a back-up plan. Our results show, however, that a constant reduction of timber harvest is costlier than an insurance policy (Figure 1.6) and is therefore less efficient. This result is linked to the fact that the premium insurance is directly related to risk (Equation 1.9), contrary to a timber harvest reduction strategy, which provides only an indirect way of managing a buffer stock (Raulier et al. 2014). The insurance premium also acts as an asset protected from fire. The consideration of fire impact and level of planned timber supply are the factors that most influence the planning success rate when implementing the optimized plan with a landscape dynamics model (Raulier et al. 2014). These two factors were varied in a systematic fashion in the present study. Both mitigation strategies were evaluated at the maximum PTH value that could be implemented in interaction with fire with the landscape simulation model, as proposed by (Leduc et al. 2015). We therefore succeeded in differentiating two types of risk, one due to fire only and another one due to the planning method used for the dimensioning of a sustainable timber supply.

Analysis of the risk related to the use of a specific planning method was discarded in the present study but deserves more consideration, especially in a real decision-making process: for the highest fire cycle that we have considered (400 years), the implementation of the timber supply optimal solution (3.8  $\text{Mm}^3 \text{ period}^{-1}$ ) in interaction with fire had a success rate of 97%. The maximum PTH value that could be totally implemented with the landscape simulation model was 2.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period-<sup>1</sup>. This means that a timber harvest reduction of 36% would be required to increase the success rate up to 100%, which is clearly very expensive (Boychuk and Martell 1996; Gassmann 1989). In fact, since absolute protection against losses cannot be guaranteed, some level of acceptable loss expressed as a risk tolerance must be established, which can widely vary based on knowledge of exposures and proposed risk management solutions (Banks 2009). This points to the importance of choosing a level of tolerance to risk when facing a relatively low fire cycle, as already noted by Leduc et al. (2015). Increasing tolerance to risk requires the availability of other mitigation strategies, such as the diversification of procurement sources (Tomlin 2006), when supply disruptions occur.

Manley and Watt (2009) mentioned that the possible reasons why uncertainty might have been ignored in the design of optimal forest management strategies is that it has often been assumed that forest management is based upon purely risk-neutral preferences. Brumelle *et al.* (1990) made a survey of the literature on optimal forest management that took into account the presence of risk and found that 70% assumed risk neutral preferences and only 10% openly used risk averse preferences. A risk neutral forest manager would prefer adopting a strategy of passive acceptance whereas a risk adverse manager might prefer to adopt a risk mitigation strategy and continually revise his strategy in a dynamic replanning process (Savage et al. 2010). Clearly, adopting a risk neutral strategy in the present case is an unsustainable strategy since important timber supply disruptions are to be expected (Figure 1.3), even with the present fire cycle of 400 years (Figure 1.3a) and despite an expected success rate of 97% of the harvest plan implementation. Furthermore, Gauthier *et al.* (2015) showed that the increase in burn rates expected in the future, especially for the 2071 to 2100 period will impact the vulnerability of the harvest in most of western Quebec where our study area is located.

Inclusion of fire risk into the timber supply planning process has already been the subject of numerous research studies and different techniques are available for this purpose (Yousefpour et al. 2012; Pasalodos-Tato et al. 2013). However, the implementation of these techniques in a real decision-making situation remains limited in North America. For instance, inclusion of fire impact on timber supply models with linear programming requires a model structure seldom available in software designed for timber supply modeling (Gunn 2007; Bettinger et al. 2009). Other approaches (Boychuk and Martell 1996; Reed and Errico 1986; Gassmann 1989) remain too complex to implement with the typical problem size required to solve optimization problems of real timber supply models (Gunn 2010; Bettinger et al. 2009). Heuristic optimization methods may overcome these limitations but do not guarantee optimality, which restrains their use in practice (Kaya et al. 2016; Bettinger and Chung 2004). To the opposite, landscape simulation models are designed and therefore suited to analyze the interaction between harvest, natural succession and disturbances (Fall et al. 2004; Sturtevant et al. 2009; James et al. 2007). Clearly, such an approach offered two main advantages. First, simulation of the implementation of the optimized solution of a timber supply problem with such a landscape dynamics model helped assess the feasibility of the

optimal solution, which conducted us to reduce the planned harvest down to a level where it was feasible at least 50% of the time. Second, at that level, we were able to estimate the amount of risk caused by fire only (and not by fire and planning method combined) and to express the simulated risk into an insurance premium, which is a common standard used for risk assessment and protection. The central view of any insurance scheme is an understanding of risk probabilities to inform the decision-making process.

# Conclusions

Wildfire events impact optimal forest management decisions because such stochastic events may disturb the planned solution. In this paper, we used VaR as a tool to measure risk to characterize expected losses caused by fire during the implementation of a timber supply model solution in a boreal forest. We did not aim to investigate all possible mitigation strategies but rather to focus on two simple strategies: the use of an insurance premium and of a reduction of timber harvest. These strategies assume that decision-makers do not have prior information on which to base their weighting of the opinions and decisions. At the moment, the prospects around climate change are hardly encouraging and it is probable that the forest economy will diminish but decision-makers should consider shifting their attention to other promising potential schemes of strategies that could be used to deal with risk, and, maybe, only then will the risk of fire lower significantly.

# Acknowledgments

This research was financially supported by the Fonds québécois de la recherche sur la nature et les technologies. We thank the Bureau du Forestier en Chef (Ministère de la Forêt, Faune

et Parc du Québec) for giving us access to their timber supply analysis for FMU 085-51 (2008–2013). We also sincerely thank Hakim Ouzennou for his statistical help.

**Author Contributions:** G.R. and F.R. conceived the experiments and analyzed the data. All authors discussed the results, and co-wrote the paper. All authors contributed to writing the paper.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# References

Acuña, M.A.; Palma, C.D.; Cui,W.; Martell, D.L.; Weintraub, A. 2010. Integrated spatial fire and forest management planning. Can. J. For. Res., 40: 2370–2383.

Ardia, D. 2008. Financial Risk Management with Bayesian Estimation of GARCH Models; Springer: Heidelberg, Germany, p. 161.

Armstrong, G; Cumming, S. 2003. Estimating the cost of land base changes due to wildfire using shadow prices. For. Sci., 49:719–730.

Armstrong, G. 2004. Sustainability of timber supply considering the risk of wildfire. For. Sci., 50: 626–639.

Bagajewicz, M.J.; Barbaro, A. 2003. Financial risk management in the planning of energy recovery in the total site. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 42: 5239–5248.

Bagajewicz, M.; Uribe, A. 2008. Financial Risk Management in Refinery Operations Planning Using Commercial Software;XIV Latin Ibero-American Congress on Operations Research: Cartagena de Indias, Colombia.

Banks, E. 2009. Risk and Financial Catastrophe; Finance and Capital Markets Series; Palgrave Macmillan: Hampshire,Great Britain, p. 213.

Baranoff, E.; Baranoff, E. 2004. Risk Management and Insurance; John Wiley and sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 48–52.

Belleau, A.; Légaré, S. Project Tembec. 2009. Towards the implementation of a forest management strategy based on the natural disturbance dynamics of the northern Abitibi region. In Ecosystem Management in the Boreal Forest; Gauthier, S., Vaillancourt, M.-A., Leduc, A., de Grandpré, L., Kneeshaw, D., Morin, H., Drapeau, P., Bergeron, Y., Eds.; Presses de l'Université du Québec: Québec, Canada, pp. 479–499.

Bergeron, Y.; Leduc, A.; Harvey, B.D.; Gauthier, S. 2002. Natural Fire Regime: A Guide for Sustainable Management of the Canadian boreal forest. Silva Fenn., 36: 81–95.

Bergeron, Y.; Gauthier, S.; Flannigan, M.; Kafka, V. 2004. Fire regimes at the transition between mixedwood and coniferous boreal forest in northwestern Quebec. Ecology, 85:1916–1932.

Bergeron, Y.; Cyr, D.; Drever, C.R.; Flannigan, M.; Gauthier, S.; Kneeshaw, D.; Logan, K. 2006. Past, current, and future fire frequencies in Quebec's commercial forests: Implications for the cumulative effects of harvesting and fire on age-class structure and natural disturbance-based management. Can J. For. Res., 36: 2737–2744.

Bergeron, Y.; Cyr, D.; Girardin, M.P.; Carcaillet, C. 2010. Will climate change drive 21st century burn rates in Canadian boreal forest outside of its natural variability: Collating global climate model experiments with sedimentary charcoal data. Int. J. Wildl. Fire, 19: 1127–1139.

Bertsimas, D.; Lauprete, G.; Samarov, A. 2004. Shortfall as a risk measure: Properties, optimization and applications. J. Econ. Dyn. Control, 28: 1353–1381.

Bettinger, P.; Chung, W. 2004. The key literature of, and trends in, forest-level management planning in North America, 1950–2001. Int. For. Rev., 6: 40–50.

Bettinger, P.; Boston, K.; Siry, J.P.; Grebner, D. 2009. Forest Management and Planning; Academic Press: Burlington, MA, USA, p. 331.

Borders, B.E.; Harrison, W.M.; Clutter, M.L.; Shiver, B.D.; Souter, R.A. 2008. The value of timber inventory information for management planning. Can. J. For. Res., 38: 2287–2294.

Boychuk, D.; Martell, D. 1996. A multistage stochastic programming model for sustainable forest-level timber supply under risk of fire. For. Sci., 42: 10–26.

Bouchard, M.; Pothier, D. 2011. Long-term influence of fire and harvesting on boreal forest age structure and forest composition in eastern Québec. For. Ecol. Manag., 261: 811–820.

Brumelle, S.; Stanbury, W; Thompson, W.; Vertinsky, I.B.; Wehrund, D. 1990. A framework for the analysis of risks in forest management and silvicultural investments. For. Ecol. Manag., 35:279–299.

Chen, H.; Cummins, J.; Viswanathan, K.; Weiss, M. 2014. Systemic risk and the interconnectedness between banks and insurers: An econometric analysis. J. Risk Insur., 81: 623–652.

Cumming, S.G. 2001. A parametric model of the fire-size distribution. Can. J. For. Res. 31:1297–1303.

Cyr, D.; Gauthier, S.; Bergeron, Y.; Carcaillet, C. 2009. Forest management is driving the eastern North American boreal forest outside its natural range of variability. Front. Ecol. Environ., 7: 519–524.

Davis, L.; Johnson, K.; Bettinger, P.; Howard, T. 2001. Forest Management to Sustain Ecological, Economic, and Social Values; McGraw Hill: New York, NY, USA. p. 804.

Dhital, N.; Raulier, F.; Asselin, H.; Imbeau, L.; Valeria, O.; Bergeron, Y. 2013. Emulating boreal forest disturbance dynamics: Can we maintain timber supply, aboriginal land use, and woodland caribou habitat? For. Chron., 89: 54–65.

Duvemo, K.; Lämas, T.; Eriksson, L.; Wikström, P. 2014. Introducing cost-plus-loss analysis into a hierarchical forestry planning environment. Ann. Oper. Res. 219: 415–431.

Eid, T. 2000. Use of uncertain inventory data in forestry scenario models and consequential incorrect harvest decisions. Silva Fenn., 34: 89–100.

Fall, A.; Fall, J. 2001. A domain-specific language for models of landscape dynamics. Ecol. Modell. 141: 1–18.

Fall, A.; Fortin, M.-J.; Kneeshaw, D.; Yamasaki, S.H.; Messier, C.; Bouthillier, L.; Smith, C. 2004. Consequences of various landscape scale ecosysteme management strategies and fire cycles on age-class structure and harvest in boreal forest. Can. J. For. Res. 34: 310–322.

Flannigan, M.; Krawchuk, M.; de Groot, W.; Wotton, M.; Gowman, L. 2009. Implications of changing climate for global wildland fire. Int. J. Wildl. Fire. 18: 483–547.

Gassmann, H.I. 1989. Optimal harvest of a forest in the presence of uncertainty. Can. J. For. Res. 19: 1267–274.

Gauthier, S.; Nguyen, T.; Bergeron, Y.; Leduc, A.; Drapeau, P.; Grondin, P. 2004. Developing forest management strategies based on fire regimes in northwestern Quebec. In Emulating Natural Forest Landscape Disturbances: Concepts and Applications; Perera, A., Buse, L.J., Weber, M.G., Eds.; Columbia University Press: New York, NY, USA,; pp. 219– 229.

Gauthier, S.; Raulier, F.; Ouzennou, H.; Saucier, J.P. 2015. Strategic analysis of forest vulnerability to risk related to fire: An example from the coniferous boreal forest of Quebec. Can. J. For. Res. 45: 553–565.

Gauthier, S.; Bernier, P.Y.; Boulanger, Y.; Guo, J.; Beaudoin, A.; Boucher, D. 2015. Vulnerability of timber supply to projected changes in fire regime in Canada's managed forests. Can. J. For. Res., 45: 1439–1447.

Groot, A.; Lussier, J.-M.; Mitchell, A.; MacIsaac, D. 2005. A silvicultural systems perspective on changing Canadian forestry practices. For. Chron., 81: 50–55.

Gunn, E. 2007. Models for strategic forest management. In Handbook of Operations Research in Natural Resources; Weintraub, A., Romero, C., Bjørndal, T., Epstein, R., Eds.; Springer: New York, pp. 317–341.

Hildebrandt, P.; Knoke, T. 2011. Investment decisions under uncertainty—A methodological review on forest science studies. For. Policy Econ. 13: 1–15.

Hoffman, F.; Hammonds, J.S. 1994. Propagation of uncertainty in risk assessments: The need to distinguish between uncertainty due to lack of knowledge and uncertainty due to variability. Risk Anal. 14:707–712.

Holecy, J.; Hanewinkel, M. 2006. A forest management risk insurance model and its application to coniferous stands in southwest Germany. For. Policy Econ. 8: 161–174.

Hoogerheide, L.; Van Dijk, H.K. 2010. Bayesian forecasting of value at risk and expected shortfall using adaptive importance sampling. Int. J. Forecast. 26: 231–247.

James, P.M.A.; Fortin, M.J.; Fall, A.; Kneeshaw, D.; Messier, C. 2007. The Effects of Spatial Legacies following Shifting Management Practices and Fire on Boreal Forest Age Structure. Ecosystems, 10: 1261–1277.

Jorion, P. 2002. How informative are value-at-risk disclosures? Account. Rev. 77: 911–931.

Kangas, J.; Kangas, A. 2005. Multiple criteria decision support in forest management—The approach, methods applied, and experiences gained. For. Ecol. Manag. 207: 133–143.

Kaya, A.; Bettinger, P.; Boston, K.; Akbulut, R.; Ucar, Z.; Siry, J.; Merry, K.; Cieszewski, C. 2016. Optimisation in forest management. Curr. For. Rep. 2: 1–17.

Lankoande, M.; Yoder, J.; Wandschneider, P. 2016. Optimal wildfire insurance in the wildland-urban interface in the presence of a government subsidy for fire risk mitigation. Available online:http://faculty.ses.wsu.edu/

WorkingPapers/Yoder/LankoandeEtAl\_InsuranceSubsidiesWildfire\_2005.pdf (accessed on 11 May 2016).

Law, A.; Kelton, W. 1982. Simulation Modelling and Analysis; McGraw-Hill, Inc.: Boston, MA, USA,

Leduc, A.; Bernier, P.Y.; Mansuy, N.; Raulier, F.; Gauthier, S.; Bergeron, Y. 2015. Using salvage logging and tolerance to risk to reduce the impact of forest fires on timber supply calculations. Can. J. For. Res. 45: 480–486.

Manley, B.;Watt, R. Forestry Insurance, Risk Pooling and Risk Minimization Options; Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry: Wellington, New Zealand, 2009. Available online: ttp://maxa.maf.govt.nz/climatechange/reports/forestry-insurance-risk-pooling-andminimisation.pdf (accessed on 11 May 2016).

Martell, D.; Gunn, E.; Weintraub, A. 1998. Forest management challenges for operational researchers. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 104: 1–17.

Moore, M.; Boardman, A.; Vining, A.; Weimer, D.; Greenberg, D. 2004. "Just give me a number!" Practical values for the social discount rate. J. Policy Anal. Manag. 23: 789–812.

Nguyen-Xuan, T. Développement d'une stratégie d'aménagement forestier s'inspirant de la dynamique des perturbations naturelles pour la région nord de l'Abitibi. Available online: http://chaireafd.uqat.ca/pdf/nguyen1.pdf (accessed on 11 May 2016).

Pasalodos-Tato, M.; Mäkinen, A.; Garcia-Gonzalo, J.; Borges, J.G.; Lämas, T.; Eriksson, L. 2013. Assessing uncertainty and risk in forest planning and decision support systems: Review of classical methods and introduction of innovative approaches. For. Syst. 22: 282–303.

Peterson, G.; Cumming, G.; Carpenter, S. 2003. Scenario planning A tool for conservation in an uncertain world. Conserv. Biol. 17: 358–366.

Peter, B.; Nelson, J. 2005. Estimating harvest schedules and profitability under the risk of fire disturbance. Can. J.For. Res. 35: 1378–1388.

R Foundation for Statistical Computing. R: 2014. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria,

Raulier, F.; Dhital, N.; Racine, P.; Tittler, R.; Fall, A. 2014. Increasing resilience of timber supply: How a variable buffer stock of timber can efficiently reduce exposure to shortfalls caused by wildfires. For. Policy Econ. 46: 47–55.

Raymond, P.; Bédard, S.; Roy, V.; Larouche, C.; Tremblay, S. 2009. The irregular shelterwood system: Review, classification, and potential application to forests affected by partial disturbances. J. For. 107: 405–413.

Reed, W.J.; Errico, D. 1986. Optimal harvest scheduling at the forest level in the presence of the risk of fire. Can. J.For. Res. 16: 266–278.

Robitaille, A.; Saucier, J.P. 1998. Paysages Régionaux du Québec Méridional; Les publications du Québec: Ste-Foy, QC, Canada. p. 213.

Savage, D.W.; Martell, D.; Wotton, B. 2010. Evaluation of two risk mitigation strategies for dealing with fire-related uncertainty in timber supply modelling. Can. J. For. Res. 40:1136–1154.

Schruben, L. 1979. Designing Correlation Induction Strategies for Simulation. Current Issues in Computer Simulation. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 73: 504–525.

Shepard, H. 1935. Forest fire insurance in the Pacific Coast states. J. For. 33: 111-116.

Shepard, H. 1937. Fire insurance for forests. J. Land Pub. Util. Econ. 13: 111–115.

Siry, J.P.; Bettinger, P.; Merry, K.; Grebner, D.; Boston, K.; Cieszewski, C. 2015. Forest Plans of North America; Academic Press: London, UK,

Sturtevant, B.R.; Miranda, B.R.; Yang, J.; He, H.S.; Gustafson, E. 2009. Studying fire mitigation strategies in multi-ownership landscapes: Balancing the management of fire-dependent ecosystems and fire risk. Ecosystems 12:445–461.

Taylor, P.D.; Fahrig, L.; Kimberly, A. Landscape connectivity: 2006. A return to the basics. In Connectivity Conservation; Crooks, K.R., Sanjayan, M., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK; pp. 22–43.

Tomlin, B. 2006. On the value of mitigation and contingency strategies for managing supply chain disruption risks. Manag. Sci. 52: 639–657.

VanWagner, C.E. 1983. Simulating the effect of forest fire on long-term annual timber supply. Can. J. For. Res. 13: 451–457.

Von Gadow, K.; Hui, G. 2001. Modelling Forest Development; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 1–23.

Wynne, B. 1992. Uncertainty and environmental learning: Reconceiving science and policy in the preventive paradigm. Glob. Environ. Change 2: 111–127.

Yousefpour, R.; Jacobsen, J.; Thorsen, B.; Meilby, H.; Hanewinkel, M.; Oehler, K. 2012. A review of decision-making approaches to handle uncertainty and risk in adaptive forest management under climate change. Ann. For. Sci. 69: 1–15.

# **Chapter 2:** Forest vulnerability through fire risk and its potential impact on forest management planning

# Résumé

L'aménagement durable des forêts devrait permettre de récolter des volumes suffisants de bois de manière soutenue. Pour cela, le risque de perte de bois due aux feux doit être intégré dans la planification à long terme. Le risque implique la probabilité de conséquences négatives qui peuvent être réduites à l'aide de mesures d'atténuation. L'objectif de cette étude est d'analyser les niveaux de vulnérabilité des peuplements par l'estimation de la production de bois tout en excluant les peuplements à faible productivité car il faut plus de temps avant d'être récoltable qu'un autre plus productif. Dans cette étude, nous examinons l'effet de l'occurrence de feu sur le calendrier de récolte et évaluons les taux de survie dans une plage de 20 % à 80 % selon différents niveaux de productivités. Nous avons utilisé des cycles de feux qui sont représentatifs pour la zone d'étude. Nous avons retenu un seuil optimal de récolte des peuplements avant plus de 50 m<sup>3</sup> / ha. Les estimations ont été utilisées pour modifier la probabilité de rupture de stock pour différents niveaux d'exclusion de peuplements forestiers particulièrement vulnérables au feu en raison de leur faible taux de croissance. Nous avons évalué l'efficacité de deux stratégies d'atténuation des risques (la constitution d'une réserve forestière versus l'exclusion des peuplements à faible productivité) en tenant compte des cycles de feux actuels et futurs. Le taux de réussite de la médiane de la récolte simulée est supérieur à 90 % pour les deux stratégies dans le cas du cycle de feu actuel, mais il est inférieur à 90 % dans le cas d'un cycle de feu futur. Les résultats des analyses ont été utilisés comme cadre de prise de décision pour la gestion des risques basée sur la compréhension de la vulnérabilité des peuplements face aux cycles de feux actuels et futurs.

# Abstract

Sustainable forest management enables adequate quantities of timber harvest, but it requires the incorporation of risk and uncertainty into long-term planning. Risk involves the likelihood of negative consequences that can be reduced by mitigating the impacts.

The goal of this study is to analyze the levels of vulnerability via the estimation of the production of timber, while excluding low-productivity stands considered vulnerable to wildfire and evaluating the likelihood that those loss events will affect the planned timber harvest. In this study, we combine fire occurrence processes alongside the harvest schedule to evaluate quantitative probabilities of fire survival ranging from 20% to 80%. We used fire cycle lengths, which are representative of historical as well as future fire cycles as reported for the study area. The assumption being that the harvest takes place at the optimal stand harvesting threshold of 50 m<sup>3</sup>/ha. The estimates have been used to change the probability of loss in timber supply when different percentages of forest stand species that are particularly vulnerable to fire are excluded. We assessed the efficacy of two risk mitigation strategies by considering current and future fire regimes. The median of simulated harvest shows that the success rate for both strategies is useful to protect timber harvest under the current fire regime, but was negatively affected by the planned harvest under the future fire regime. The results from the analyses were used as a decision-making framework for risk management based on an understanding of the stand vulnerability in present and future fire regimes.

# Introduction

In forest planning, risk is defined as a function of the magnitude and frequency of a hazard for a given area and reference planning horizon (Gadow 2000), whereas the planning horizon is quantified by the value of elements exposed to risk and their vulnerability. Furthermore, some losses can be prevented and others cannot. In cases when a risk cannot be reduced or eliminated, the focus must turn toward reducing vulnerabilities based on rules, regulations, and safety measures as resistance technique, which, in turn, reduces the effects of risk through safety precautions in vulnerable areas (Banks 2009). Vulnerability is defined by the degree of loss to a given element at risk resulting from the impact of a natural hazard (Haque 2005). Fuchs et al. (2011) suggested a dependency of the degree of loss on the hazard impact, and respective vulnerability.

Risk analyses aim at estimating potential expositions and consequences of natural hazard events on timber supply. Forest managers use a number of strategies to mitigate the risk, and take actions in advance, regardless of whether a disruption occurs. An analysis of timber supply vulnerability could provide an appropriate decision basis for risk management strategies. Although there is certainty that fire will occur, uncertainty remains regarding magnitude, location, and timing of these events (Raulier et al.2013). One source of this uncertainty is the vast unpredictability of future climatic reality. Notably, the boreal forest is vulnerable to future climate change (Weber and Flannigan 1997), probably more vulnerable to climate change than other forest (Houghton et al. 1996). Thus, climate change has implications for both current and future timber supply, and may also have an impact on the ability to achieve objectives for sustainable forest management. Fire is the dominant natural disturbance in boreal forests (Johnson 1998, Weir et al. 2000); and forest fire activity has

increased significantly over the last 40 years (Flannigan and Van Wagner 1991; Bergeron et al. 2001) despite knowledge of inclusion of fire risk into a forest planning process, which, arguably, represents an emerging task. Indeed, applications of risk analysis in forest planning remain very rare (Gadow 2000). Incorporating natural disturbances into planning varies among jurisdictions (Armstrong 2004, Gadow 2000). Given the difficulty of predicting the location or severity of the natural disturbance of events, some prefer to ignore the potential effect of natural disturbance altogether (Tomlin 2006), readjusting their plans after considering the grave importance of fire damage (Savage et al 2010; Bessie and Johnson 1995).

Many models have been developed to examine the uncertainty of timber supply caused by fire risk, and results indicate that a reduction in harvest volume is required to ensure long term sustainability (Armstrong 2004; Peter and Nelson 2005; Savage et al. 2010a). Van Wagner (1983) demonstrated that when harvest rates are sufficiently reduced, the harvest becomes relatively insensitive to the amount of fire. Avoiding the risk of fire can be achieved by excluding vulnerable stands from the timber supply productivity areas (Raulier et al. 2013). In this study, we explored how can productivity be included in the assessment of vulnerability in forest management planning. Our focus is to reduce the risk of timber harvest disruptions through the identification of low-productivity stands (LPS) most vulnerable to fire and excluding from planned timber harvest (PTH). Site index and density index were used to estimate the time required to reach different harvesting thresholds based on tree density (m<sup>3</sup>/ha). We estimated the time required to reach these thresholds considering three fire cycle length (100, 200, 400 years for the study area).

I compared with another mitigation strategy by reducing the level of timber supply throughout the planning horizon to manage buffer stock (BFS) (Raulier et al 2014; Rodriguez et al. 2016). Therefore, in this study we investigate the extent to which the two mitigation strategies mentioned may protect against timber harvest disruptions across the whole planning horizon.

## Materials and method

#### Study area

The study area is the Forest Management Unit (FMU) 085-51 which is located in Western Quebec, Canada (Figure 2.1). The total area covers 1.08 million ha, and approximately half of the territory is considered productive (487235 Ha). The FMU includes 1509 inventory strata covering a gross productive area of 542 000 ha. Dhital et al. (2013) grouped forest polygons into inventory strata based on cover type, stand density as well as height, age class, and ecological type (Pothier, and Savard 1998; Didion et al. 2007). The understory of the study area is dominated by bryophytes and ericaceous shrubs with rare herbaceous species and organic layer allowing paludification across the landscape (Fenton and Bergeron 2006). This study was conducted in the boreal forest dominated by black spruce (*Picea mariana (Mill.*) B.S.P.), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana Lamb.*) and trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.), which configure the three main successional pathways (Nguyen-Xuan 2002; Bergeron *et al.*, 2002; Gauthier *et al.*, 2004) exposed to historical and current fire cycles reported for the study area. The fire cycles defined by Johnson and Van Wagner (1985) as the time required to burn an area equal in area to the study area, was used to calculate the

proportion of vulnerable stand. Bergeron et al. (2006) estimated the future fire regimes by considering climatic simulations from the CGCM1 for 2040–2060 ( $2 \times CO2$ ) – around 200 years, and for 2080–2100 ( $3 \times CO2$ ) – around 100 years while the current fire cycle (1920–2000) was estimated to be around 400 years for the study area.



Figure 2.1. Study area, Forest Management Unit 85-51

# **Timber supply model**

The timber supply model formulated as an optimization problem allowed for a planned periodic harvest level of 3.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>. The timber supply model was formulated as an optimization problem solved with linear programming (Rodriguez et al. 2016). The planning horizon was set to 150 years and divided into 30 periods of 5 years. The objective function maximized harvest volume (i.e., Mm<sup>3</sup>/period<sup>-1</sup>) (Eq. 2.1). The first constraint provided an

even flow of harvest volume over time (Eq. 2.2). Within harvest planning, the study area was divided into different spatially organized compartments (operating areas between 30 km<sup>2</sup> and 150 km<sup>2</sup>) as a function of canopy closure and species composition to emulate fire size distribution. These operating areas are open to harvest when more than 30% of their timber productive area is eligible to harvest (Eq. 2.3). Two silvicultural regimes was implemented by careful logging around advanced regeneration (CLAAG) and irregular shelter-wood cuts (50% removal of merchantable volume) (Raymond *et al.* 2009).

Let

o: operational area (1 ... 107) s: successional pathway (1 ... 3) p: period (1 ... 30) a: stand age h: harvest type (1 ... 2)

 $T_C$ : Timber production area belonging to cohort c,  $\forall$  c, following the targeted forest structure

Variables

 $\begin{aligned} X_{op} &= \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if operating area is open to harvest} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \forall o, p \\ P_{ashop} &= \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if survivalle likhood} \geq \text{Survival likelihood threshold} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \\ A_{ashop} &: \text{Area harvested (ha), } \forall a, s, h, o, p \\ e_{ashop} &: \text{Area eligible for harvest (ha), } \forall a, s, h, o, p \end{cases}$ 

Parameters

 $V_{ashop}$ : Volume yield (m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>),  $\forall$  a, s, h, o, p

 $B_o$ : Productive area (ha) of the operating area,  $\forall o$ 

Objective function

$$Z = \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} \sum_{p=1}^{30} V_{asohp} A_{asohp}$$
(2.1)

Subject to

$$\sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asoh(p-1)} A_{asoh(p-1)} - \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asohp} A_{asohp} = 0$$

$$A_{asohp} \le e_{asohp} \quad X_{op} P_{asohp} \quad \forall a, s, o, h, p$$
(2.2)
(2.2)

To develop the timber supply model (Model II formulation), we used the Remsoft Spatial Planning System (Remsoft, Fredericton, NB, Canada) and solved it with Mosek 5.0. (Mosek ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark).

#### Integrating stochastic process in timber harvest model

The harvest schedule has been simulated using a spatially explicit model written with the Spatially Explicit Landscape Event Simulator (SELES) under current and future fire regimes. The model relates cause and effect in an attempt to create a landscape management tool through the interaction between harvest planning and stochastic processes such as fire and succession. The model describes flows within compartments (operating areas) as well as spatial processes according to specific algorithms. SELES have been applied to evaluate the consequences of shifting management regimes on forest age structure (James et al. 2007; Côté et al. 2010) and support forest landscape decision processes for land-use planning (Fall and Fall 2001). Inputs for a given model can include spatial raster (grid) data (e.g. stand age), tables (e.g. yield curves) and parameters (e.g. fire cycles). The model includes sub-models to simulate fire, harvest and succession. Fire stochastic processes create risk and uncertainty in timber supply planning, which require long periods of stability (Savage et al 2010b). The

harvesting model has been implemented based on the timber supply optimization model specified as targeted volumes per stratum. Harvest blocks have been built up from individual cells and are placed preferentially near cells that have high wood volume within active operating areas. The wood volumes themselves, in each cell, are based on the yield curves used by a timber supply model. The fire history map realized by Bergeron et al. (2004) has been used to calibrate the fire model and was simulated as a percolation algorithm parameterized from historical fire occurrence data to reproduce relevant characteristics of a fire regime (Fall et al. 2004). Furthermore, figure 2.2. simulate the effects of wildfire on timber supply at the landscape scale based on historical information for the study area. Whereas, succession model was designed to alter species composition over time and in response to disturbance in site types with similar succession trajectories. Species transitions are modeled as a semi-Markov process, whereby following disturbance, a trajectory of transitions is computed using (one-year) intervals. This trajectory represents the subsequent species based on the important assumption that actual observed patterns in species and age reflect succession processes over time (James 2007). The spatial resolution is based on a coarse resolution of 10 haper pixel, the simulations were done with a timestep of 5 years and a simulation horizon of 150 years corresponding to one and a half times the mean rotation age.



Figure 2.2. Conceptual framework of optimize and simulation model scheme

# Estimating the proportion of vulnerable stands considering fire

The estimation of the expected proportion of forest stands that will likely reach their minimum harvesting age is given by:

$$p(A_{ht}) = \exp(-\frac{A_{ht}}{Tf})$$
(Eq. 2.4)

where  $A_{ht}$  is the age required for a stand to reach a minimum harvesting threshold and  $T_f$  is a fire cycle (years). The equation describes the survival likelihood (20, 40, 60 and 80%) of a specific stand for  $A_{ht}$  years in an area submitted to a particular fire cycle (100, 200 and 400 years) (Raulier et al. 2013). The area eligible to harvest was where stand reached the age of exploitability and probability of survival. Furthermore, in describing quantitative probability ranges, specific qualitative language presented by Patt and Schrag (2003) is utilized to describe quantitative probability ranges. To estimate the probability that a stand escapes from fire, we assessed exposure to fire regimes variability within a spatially explicit model under scenarios of climate change. This analysis makes it possible to compare how fire regime affects the vulnerability forest structure and timber production over time.

## **Timber supply reduction**

In timber supply models, various levels of reduction were considered as a buffer, reducing the planned harvest level (Raulier et al 2014) by a constant proportion and serving as a backup plan in the event that a supply disruption occurs (Boychuk and Martell 1996). In the simulation model the minimum tolerable level of timber harvest is defined as the sustainable harvest target setting below 90%, because of protect against all eventualities, may be too expensive (Peter and Nelson 2005; Raulier et al. 2014). Harvest targets are constrained to the availability levels encountered throughout the simulations, by any reduction of timber volume when the primary allocation was not available at the time of harvest (Raulier et al. 2014; Rodriguez et al. 2016).

#### **Risk analysis**

Most measures of the risk are statistical quantities describing the loss distributions over some predetermined horizon as the Value at Risk (VaR) (McNeil et al. 2005). Risk measurement involves examining the probability distributions associated with random variables and estimating future outcomes drawn from these probability distributions to assess the trade-off between gains from risk reduction and the loss of opportunity (Jüttner et al. 2003; Tomlin 2006). VaR is a statistical technique used to measure the downside risk and quantify the level of risk within an economic activity exposed to over a specific period. In the context of risk management, VaR is given by the loss (L) distribution for a given period (p), equal to the difference between an expected profit and the profit corresponding to 5th percentile ( $\alpha$ ) of the cumulative probability distribution (Equation 2.5):

$$\operatorname{Prob}\left(\mathrm{L}_p \le \operatorname{VaR}_p\right) = \alpha \tag{Eq. 2.5}$$

Based on previous studies (Belleau et al. 2007; Raulier et al. 2014) 100 replications were performed to stabilize the probability distribution of success rate of realized timber harvest (RTH). Statistical computation was performed using the R statistical software environment (R Core Team, 2014).

# **Results**

## The assessment of timber vulnerability to wildfire

The timber harvest solution served to estimate harvest loss distributions by simulation model for three fire cycles. Figure 2.3 shows PTH under three different scenarios across 30 period

horizons. The average timber harvest per period for each scenario was approximately 3.6  $Mm^{3}$ /period<sup>-1</sup>. Both strategies behave in the same manner facing current fire risk, with success rate higher than the minimum tolerable level of risk exposure (90%) (Fig. 2.3). However, in the event of worst case scenario (100 years fire cycle) (Fig. 2.3b and d) change of fire regime for both strategies had a direct impact on probability distribution of the planning success rate. Median and maximum VaR for both scenarios for current and worst case scenario (100 years fire cycle) are around 3.6 – 1.6  $Mm^{3}$ /period<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 2.3).



**Figure 2.3.** Rate of success for two protection strategies under current fire regime (Panels a or c) and possible worst-case scenario (Panels b or d) of increasing burn rate in the future (100years). Probability distributions of the planning success rate for excluding low-productivity stands vulnerable to fire (Panels a, b) and buffer stock (Panels c,d).

As expected, results across simulated scenarios (Fig. 2.3a) reveal that most of the stands are considered productive and even though the likelihood of vulnerability is increased to 80%, stands remain productive and reach planned timber harvest levels, whereas under short fire cycle (Fig. 2.3b) reach the PTH is unfeasible.

Figure 2.4. describes different spatial outputs of the proportion of operating area considered productive under three different fire cycles (400, 200 and 100 years) and four survival likelihood (20, 40, 60 and 80%). We calculated the probability of reaching specific harvest targets while excluding various proportions of vulnerable stands from PTH. Approximately half of the total area of the territory can be considered productive (Figure 2.4).

Excluding vulnerable stands from PTH cannot totally mitigate timber losses, because the time to reach the productivity thresholds makes the stands vulnerable to fire and its mitigation efficiency is highly dependent on productivity area (Figure 2.4). Under 100 fire cycle years, vulnerable stands become frequent or common for most of their timber production area. Figure 2.5 displays planned and realized timber harvest results in a decrease in the productive area assuming a 100-year fire cycle as compared to 200 and 400-year fire cycle.


**Figure 2.4.** Proportion of operating areas considered productive which that reach the production threshold (Density of stand 50  $m^3/ha$ ) under three different fire cycles 400,200,100) and four probability likelihood (20, 40, 60 and 80%).



**Figure 2.5.** Amount of productive area as a function of planned and realized timber supply under current (400 years Figure a) and future fire regimes (200 years Figure b; 100 years Figure c)

#### Excluding vulnerable stands from the timber supply to avoid fire risk

Table 2.1 shows the timber harvest levels in PTH required to stabilize timber supply under a current and future fire regime throughout the planning horizon (slope figure 2.6). We observed a gradual increase in risk frequency while increasing the planned timber harvests and lower values of maximum risk frequencies as compared to those obtained in PTH (Figure 2.6).

Fire cycle	Threshold PTH (Mm <sup>3</sup> period <sup>-1</sup> )	
	BFS	LPS
100	2.60 (0.17)	2.50 (0.20)
200	3.06 (0.36)	3.08 (0.26)
400	3.37 (0.57)	3.35 (0.70)

**Table 2.1.** Threshold relating PTH and periodic median realized harvest levels (BFS and LPS). Numbers in parentheses represent a half-confidence interval

Results (Table 2.1, Figure 2.6) show that regardless of mitigation strategy, the median realized harvest for each fire regime is similar. In this regard forest managers may evaluate the asset and loss facing wildfire risk. Hence, as even an indirect management strategy (BFS) is easy to understand and simple in application, other forest values need to be assessed. The probability of fire occurrence and consequence of adverse will increase under climatic conditions.



**Figure 2.6.** Relationship between planned timber harvest and realized harvest level (median value) for both strategies under three different fire cycles. The decrease in realized harvest is progressively increasing in shorter fire cycles.

Figure 2.6 shows PTH the median realized harvest level equal to RTH values for timber harvest around 2.6, 3.0 and 3.4 Mm<sup>3</sup> period-<sup>1</sup> under current and future fire cycle (Table 2.1), indicating more frequent occurrences of important timber harvest disruption across planning horizon with future fire regime.

## Discussion

The effect of current vulnerability of timber supply to projected fire regimes is low but increases greatly under projected increases in burn rate. Vulnerability rises to the moderate

level by considering climatic simulations from the CGCM1 for 2040–2060 ( $2 \times CO_2$ ) but high vulnerabilities are calculated for 2080–2100 ( $3 \times CO_2$ ) around 100-year fire cycles. In fact, dealing with fire risk scenario many studies suggest reductions in timber supply planning (Raulier et al. 2014, Boychuk and Martell 1996; Leduc et al. 2015).

Simulation results with the landscape dynamics model served to evaluate trade-offs between current harvest levels and the probability of sustainability under different future fire regimes. We aimed to evaluate the exclusion of vulnerable stands from timber harvest as a mitigation strategy to reduce the impact on timber supply in case such risk events occurred (Martell 1994). The present approach of excluding low-productivity stands vulnerable to fire was evaluated as a mitigation strategy to the inclusion of fire risk during the strategic planning phase as previously suggested by Raulier et al. (2013).

Several authors have developed models to examine timber supply uncertainty and their results indicate that a reduction in harvest volume is required to ensure long term sustainability (Boychuk and Martell 1996, Armstrong 2004; Peter and Nelson 2005). The Canadian boreal forest is vulnerable to climate change notwithstanding their relatively high adaptive capacity (Gauthier et al. 2014). Savage et al (2011) examined the long-term sustainability of timber supply under uncertainty and showed that the harvest levels predicted in the initial plan may never be realized in the future because of stochastic disturbance as well as mentioned by Leduc et al. 2014.

Gauthier et al. 2015 evaluated the vulnerability of timber supply facing the increase of forest fire at the level of forest management areas (FMAs) across the boreal forest of Canada. The vulnerability assessment approach has already been used in forestry context, and it was applied at a range of scales (Gauthier et al. 2014; Raulier et al. 2013). The probability that

the stand will not reach its commercial maturity before being affected by fire is related to the time required to grow to that level (Gauthier et al. 2015; Van Wagner 1978).

We identify the vulnerability of forest productivity to fire risk to evaluated the planned timber supply effects when those are excluded from timber supply. Through optimisation and simulation models we determined the probability of survival of stands to each fire cycle (100, 200 and 400 years) according to rotation age. The optimum volume of wood to be harvested depend on the current state of the forest in terms of its growth rate and age class distribution (Van Wagner 1983). Planned timber harvest for a sustained yield unit is set with the intent of providing a sustainable timber harvest. This is usually understood to be the maximum even flow annual timber harvest that can be maintained over two forest rotations defined as typically 150-200 years (Armstrong 2004). Van Wagner (1983) demonstrated that when harvest rates are sufficiently reduced, the harvest becomes relatively insensitive to the amount of fire. We illustrate how these indicators allow forest managers to decide the appropriate minimum harvesting threshold when implementing a harvest strategy on a area as a function of productivity characteristic and fire regime.

## Conclusions

In the context of climate change, forest managers are continuously facing different risks which require tolerance to avoid timber harvest disruptions. Decisions-makers improve their chances of success by choosing which strategic tools work best. This approach of rating wood volume available to harvest as a function of their vulnerability to fire can be used to reduce the impacts of fire on timber supply. To anticipate the impact of fire risk in timber supply calculations this paper suggests strategies for the forest management considering current and projected fire regimes, either by reducing the timber supply level by a fixed percentage throughout the planning horizon or by the assessment of timber vulnerability to fire by excluding low-productivity stands vulnerable to fire. However, managers constantly need to evaluate alternatives and make decisions regarding a wide range of matters under different degrees of uncertainty and to decide when to use one tool or combination of tools over another.

## References

Armstrong G. 2004. Sustainability of timber supply considering the risk of wildfire. For. Sci. 50: 626-639.

Banks, E. 2009. Risk and Financial Catastrophe; Finance and Capital Markets Series; Palgrave Macmillan: Hampshire,Great Britain, p. 213.

Belleau, A., Bergeron, Y., Leduc, A., Gauthier, S., Fall, A., 2007. Using spatially explicit simulations to explore size distribution and spacing of regenerating areas produced by wildfires: recommendations for designing harvest agglomerations for the Canadian boreal forest. For. Chron. 83: 72–83.

Bessie, W.C., and E.A. Johnson. 1995. The relative importance of fuels and weather on fire behavior in subalpine forests. Ecology. 76: 747-762.

Bergeron, Y., S. Gauthier, V. Kafka, P. Lefort and D. Lesieur. 2001. Natural fire frequency for the eastern Canadian boreal forest: Consequences for sustainable forestry. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 31: 384-391.

Bergeron, Y., Gauthier, S., Flannigan, M., and Kafka, V. 2004. Fire regime at the transition between mixed wood and coniferous boreal forest in northwestern Quebec. Ecology, 7:1916–1932.

Bergeron, Y., A. Leduc, B.D. Harvey et S. Gauthier. 2002. Natural fire regime: A guide for sustainable management of the Canadian boreal forest. Silva Fennica, 36: 81-95.

Bergeron, Y., Cyr, D., Drever, C.R., Flannigan, M., Gauthier, S., Kneeshaw, D., Lauzon, È., Leduc, A., Le Goff, H., Lesieur, D. et Logan, K. 2006. Past, current, and future free frequencies in Quebec's commercial forests: implications for the cumulative effects of harvesting and free on age-class structure and natural disturbance-based management. Can. J. For. Res.11: 2737-2744

Boychuk D, Perera AH, Ter-Mikaelian M, Martell DL, Li C. 1997. Modelling the effect of spatial scale and correlated fire disturbance on forest age distribution. Ecol. Model. 95:145–64.

Boychuk, D., Martell, D.L. 1996. A multistage stochastic programming model for sustainable forest-level timber supply under risk of fire. For. Sci. 42: 10–26.

Côté, P., Tittler, R., Messier, C., Kneeshaw, D.D., Fall, A., Fortin, M.-J. 2010. Comparing different forest zoning options for landscape-scale management of the boreal forest: possible benefits of the TRIAD. For. Ecol. Manag. 259: 418–427.

Didion, M., Fortin, M.-J., and Fall, A. 2007. Forest age structure as indicator of boreal forest sustainability under alternative management and fire regimes: a landscape level sensitivity analysis. Ecol. Model. 200: 45–58.

Dhital N, Raulier F, Asselin H, Imbeau L, Valeria O, Bergeron Y. 2013. Emulating boreal forest disturbance dynamics: Can we maintain timber supply, aboriginal land use, and woodland caribou habitat? For Chron. 89:54–65

Fall A, Fall J. 2001. A domain-specific language for models of landscape dynamics. Ecol Model. 141:1–18

Fall, A., M.-J. Fortin, D. D. Kneeshaw, S. H. Yamasaki, C. Messier, L. Bouthillier and C. Smith. 2004. Consequences of various landscape-scale ecosystem management strategies and fire cycles on age-class structure and harvest in boreal forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 34: 310-322.

Fenton, N. and Y. Bergeron, 2006. Facilitative succession in a boreal bryophyte community driven by changes in available moisture and light. Journal of Vegetation Science, 17: 65–76.

Flannigan M., Van Wagner C. 1991. Climate change and wildfire in Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 21: 66–72.

Flannigan, M, Logan K., Amiro B., Skinner W. and Stocks. J. 2005. Future area burned in Canada. Climate Change. 72: 1-16.

Fuchs, S., Ornetsmüller, C., and Totschnig, R. 2012. Spatial scan statistics in vulnerability assessment: an application to mountain hazards. Natural Hazard. 64: 2129-2151.

Gadow, K. V. 2000. Evaluating risk in forest planning models. Silva Fennica. 34 : 181–191.

Gauthier, S., Nguyen, T., Bergeron, Y., Leduc, A., Drapeau, P., Grondin, P., 2004. Developing forest management strategies based on fire regimes in northwestern Quebec. In: Perera, A.H., Buse, L.J.,Weber, M.G. (Eds.), Emulating Natural Forest Landscape Disturbance. Columbia University Press, New York, pp. 219–229.

Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Burton, P. J., Edwards, J., Isaac, K., Isabel, N. and Nelson, E. A. 2014. Climate change vulnerability and adaptation in the managed Canadian boreal forest Environmental Reviews. 22: 256-285.

Gauthier, S., Raulier, F., Ouzennou, H., and Saucier, J. P. 2015. Strategic analysis of forest vulnerability to risk related to fire: an example from the coniferous boreal forest of Quebec Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 45: 553-565.

Haque, C., and Burton, I. 2005. Adaptation options strategies for hazards and vulnerability mitigation: an international perspective. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global change. Springer.10 :335-353

Houghton, R. A. 1996. Terrestrial sources and sinks of carbon inferred from terrestrial data. Tellus Series B Chemical and Physical Meteorology 48:430–433.

James, P., Fortin, M.-J., Fall, A., Kneeshaw, D., and Messier, C. 2007. The effects of spatial legacies following shifting management practices and fire on boreal forest age structure. Ecosystems, 10: 1261–1277.

Johnson, E. A. and Van Wagner, C. 1985. The theory and use of two fire history models. Can. J. For. Res., 15: 214-20.

Johnson, E., Miyanishi, K., and Weir, J. 1998. Wildfires in the western Canadian boreal forest: landscape patterns and ecosystem management. J. Veg. Sci. 9: 603–610.

Jüttner, U., H. Peck, and M. Christopher. 2003. "Supply Chain Risk Management: Outlining an Agenda for Future Research." International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications 6: 197–210.

Leduc, A., Bernier, P. Y., Mansuy, N., Raulier, F., Gauthier, S., a Bergeron, Y. 2015. Using salvage logging and tolerance to risk to reduce the impact of forest fires on timber supply calculations. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 45: 480-486.

Martell, D., 1994. The impact of fire on timber supply in Ontario. For. Chron. 70: 164-173.

McNeil, A., Frey, R., and Embrechts, P. 2005. Quantitative risk management: Concepts, techniques and tools. Princeton university press.

Nguyen-Xuan, T. 2002. Développement d'une stratégie d'aménagement forestier s'inspirant de la dynamique des perturbations naturelles pour la région Nord de l'Abitibi. Rapport préliminaire de recherche effectuée dans le cadre du Volet I du programme de mise en valeur des ressources du milieu forestier présenté au Ministère des Ressources naturelles du Québec, Rouyn-Noranda. 36 pp.

Patt, A. Schrag, D., 2003. Using specific language to describe risk and probability. Clim. Change 61 : 17–30.

Pothier, D., Savard, F. 1998. Actualisation des tables de production pour les principales espèces forestières du Québec. Ministère des Ressources naturelles. Gouvernement du Québec, Québec, QC, Canada.

Peter B., Nelson, J., 2005. Estimating harvest schedules and profitability under the risk of fire disturbance. Can. J. For. Res. 35: 1378-1388.

R Foundation for Statistical Computing. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2014.

Raymond, P., Bédard, S., Roy, V., Larouche, C., Tremblay, S., 2009. The irregular shelterwood system: review, classification, and potential application to forests affected by partial disturbances. J. For. 107: 405–413.

Raulier, F., Le Goff, H., Gauthier, S., Rapanoela, R., and Bergeron, Y. 2013. Introducing two indicators for fire risk consideration in the management of boreal forests. Ecological indicators. 24: 451-461.

Raulier, F., Dhital, N., Racine, P., Tittler, R., and Fall, A. 2014. Increasing resilience of timber supply: How a variable buffer stock of timber can efficiently reduce exposure to shortfalls caused by wildfires. Forest Policy and Economics. 46: 47-55.

Rodriguez-Baca, G., Raulier, F., and Leduc, A. 2016. Rating a Wildfire Mitigation Strategy with an Insurance Premium: A Boreal Forest Case Study. Forests, 7: 107.

Savage, D., Martell, D., and Wotton, B. 2010(a). Evaluation of two risk mitigation strategies for dealing with fire-related uncertainty in timber supply modelling. Canadian journal of forest research, 40: 1136-1154.

Savage D., and Martell D. 2010(b). Dealing with uncertainty in strategic forest management planning. SFM Network Research Note Series. No. 73.

Savage, D., Martell, D., Wotton, B. 2011. Forest management strategies for dealing with fire-related uncertainty when managing two forest seral stages. Can. J. For. Res. 2: 309–320.

Tomlin B., 2006. On the Value of Mitigation and Contingency Strategies for Managing Supply Chain Disruption Risks. Management Science. 52: 639-657

Van Wagner, C. E. 1978. Age-class distribution and the forest fire cycle. Can. J. For. Res. 8:220-227.

Van Wagner C.E.1983. Simulating the effects of forest fire on long-term annual timber supply. Can. J. For. Res. 13:451-457

Weber, M. G., and Flannigan, M. D. 1997. Canadian boreal forest ecosystem structure and function in a changing climate: impact on fire regimes. Environmental Reviews. 5:145-166.

Weir, J., A. Johnson E., and K. Miyanishi. 2000. Fire frequency and the spatial age mosaic of the mixed-wood boreal forest in western Canada.Ecol.Appl.10: 1162–1177.

# **Chapter 3:** Sourcing Strategy to mitigate the impact of timber supply disruptions caused by fire

## Résumé

Les perturbations naturelles comme les feux de forêt complexifient la planification de la récolte du bois qui doit toujours faire face au risque. Nous avons modélisé l'effet de la variation du volume de récolte à long terme dans l'unité d'aménagement forestier 085-51. La récolte planifiée a été établie en utilisant un modèle de programmation linéaire maximisant le volume total récolté. La récolte, le régime de feu et la succession ont été mise en interaction à l'aide d'un modèle spatialement explicite. Nous avons évalué des approches flexibles en combinant une réduction des prélèvements de bois nécessaires à la création d'une réserve forestière avec différents niveaux de coupe partielle, en supposant que le cycle de feu futur diminuera. L'efficacité des scénarios a été évaluée par le taux de réussite à réaliser les niveaux de récolte planifiés. Nous concluons qu'une réserve de bois associée à un certain niveau de coupe partielle pourrait aider les gestionnaires à éviter les variations de volumes disponibles à la récolte de bois causées par le risque de feux de forêt dans le contexte de la gestion des écosystèmes forestiers.

## Abstract

Planned timber harvest is hampered by uncertainty and to be difficult to reach because of natural disturbance such as wildfire. We modelled the effect of the variation of harvest volume on the likelihood of probability of maintaining the planned timber harvest in the eastern boreal management unit for a long term forest planning. The planned harvest was set using a linear programming model maximizing the total harvested volume. The harvest, fire regime and succession were simulated using a spatially explicit model. We evaluated flexible approaches by reduction of timber harvest necessary to build a buffer stock including silvicultural strategies for managing forested ecosystems under an assumption that future fire cycle will decrease. We conclude that a buffer stock coupled with partial cutting could help managers avoid potential timber harvest disruptions caused by wildfire risk in the context of forest ecosystem management.

## Introduction

In boreal forests, the area disturbed by fires is highly variable both over time and space, and can have a wide range of impacts (Martell 1994). Such impacts represent multiple potential losses than can be extremely damaging (Brunette et al. 2015). Tools for mitigation or risk management vary in scope and objective; some serve to minimize the exposure to disturbances while others compensate for losses (Galik and Jackson 2009). The wood available to mills is certainly one of the crucial elements of forest economic analysis. Strategic sourcing and supply management offers managers the opportunities to set the stage for uninterrupted supply (Narasimhan and Talluri 2006).

The development of a sourcing strategy is an interesting way to mitigate supply disruptions (Tomlin 2006; Savage et al. 2010). Salvage logging is increasingly being used to mitigate economic losses due to fire (McIver and Starr 2001; Peter and Nelson 2005; Leduc et al.2015). However, the effects of salvage logging on the environmental, economic and social impacts are still limited (Nappi et al. 2004; Foster and Orwig 2006).

Much of the literature (Raulier et al. 2014; Martell 1994), states that a stable timber supply requires the establishment of a buffer stock which could be significant in compensating potential losses loss in long-term planning (Boychuk and Martell 1996; Reed and Errico 1986; Van Wagner 1983). We can also opt for a strategy consisting of a reduction of the exposure to fire risk through the exclusion of vulnerable stand from the timber production area (Raulier et al 2013) or via fire suppression or the introduction of impediments to reduce fire spread (Hirsch et al. 2001).

By producing more dispersed cut-blocks and reducing rotation length compared to clearcutting (Prévost and Pothier 2003.; Harvey et al. 2002), partial cutting be an alternative

72

strategy to reduce exposure to risk. Bergeron et al (2002) suggests that silvicultural techniques designed to maintain forest compositions and structures at different scales should be taken for strategic-level forest management planning. Spatial and temporal variations of partial cutting have an important influence on forest composition and structure at the landscape and regional levels (Harvey et al. 2002). Partial cuttings are increasingly used in boreal forests to maintain natural structure and to increase residual tree growth (Pamerleau-Couture et al 2015) and could be a way of meeting both ecological and economic objectives based on the principles of sustained yield management (Eyre and Zillgitt 1953).

A decision quality framework for risk management would consider not only judgments and decisions about landscapes and ecosystems, but also strategic decisions that address the risks and trade-offs such as adaptive management, simulation models, and risk assessment (Borchers G. 2005). Several authors highlight, the silviculture as an important part of an integrated management program which and could play a determining role in the face of climate change issues (Stand 1989; Fujimori 2001; Mason et al.2012). In this paper, we evaluated the applicability of silvicultural strategy coupled with timber harvest reductions to provide a better chance of success of harvest planned.

#### Materials and methods

#### Study area

This study was carried out in FMU 85-51 in North-Western Quebec (Figure 3.1). The area of the FMU is around 1083513 ha localized in the sub-areas of balsam fir-white birch west and Black spruce-moss and crosses two ecoregions in the continuous boreal forest area of Quebec. The two ecological regions are identified as the Abitibi Lowland (5a) and the Lake

Matagami Lowland (6a). The southern ecoregion (Abitibi Lowland) belongs to the Abies balsamea - Betula papyrifera bioclimatic domain and the northern region (6a) belongs to the Picea mariana-moss bioclimatic domain. In the coniferous ecoregion (6a), the topography is generally flat, and the most important surficial deposit is organic soils (36% of the area) followed by clay deposits (29%). On the other hand, clay deposits (45%) are dominant in the southern ecoregion (5a) followed by organic deposits (18%). The southern region (5a) is characterized by a rolling topography whereas the northern part is flat, the average annual temperature of 1 °C and an average rainfall of 800-900 mm. The northern region (6a) is characterized by a mean annual temperature of 0 °C and lower annual rainfall less than 800 mm respectively. In black spruce-moss the natural disturbances affecting the territory are fire (Bergeron et al. 20010. severe fires produce conditions conducive to the establishment of a productive population (Pollock and Payette 2010). Exposed mineral soil in a complete destruction of the organic matter and dead wood are indeed good seedbed for conifers such as black spruce (*Picea mariana-moss*) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.). The majority of seedlings of black spruce and jack pine settle in the first three years following the passage of fire (St-Pierre et al., 1992, Charron and Greene 2002). Studies on the fire regime of the two ecoregions indicate that in both regions, the fire cycle changed around 1850, which corresponds to the end of the Little Ice Age. Before 1850, the fire cycle was less than 100 years, whereas after 1850 the cycles were extended to 200 and 400 years (Bergeron et al. 2010; Bergeron et al. 2001).



Figure 3.1. Forest management unit (FMU)- 8551

## **Optimization model**

We calculated the planned timber harvest (PTH) based on the optimize model constructed in Woodstock (Remsoft Inc., Fredericton, NB) and solved with Mosek 5.0 (Mosek ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark).



Figure 3.2. Optimization and simulation approach

The optimization model maximized the total harvest volume over 150 years (Eq. 1) solved using linear programming (LP) approach which was constrained to sustained yield (Eq. 2). Maximize:

$$Z = \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} \sum_{p=1}^{30} V_{asohp} A_{asohp}$$
(1)

Subject to

$$\sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asoh(p-1)} A_{asoh(p-1)} - \sum_{a=1}^{30} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \sum_{o=1}^{107} \sum_{h=1}^{2} V_{asohp} A_{asohp} = 0$$

$$A_{asohp} \le e_{asohp} X_{op} P_{asohp} \forall a, s, o, h, p$$
(2)
(2)
(3)

$$A_{ashop - e_{ashop}} \leq 0 \quad \forall \ a, s, h, o, p \tag{4}$$

$$A_{ashop} \ge 0 \quad \forall \ a, s, h, o, p \tag{5}$$

 $X_{op} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if operating area is open to harvest} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ 

### $B_o$ : Productive area (ha) of the operating area, $\forall o$

The objective value *z* corresponds to the total volume that was planned to be harvested over the entire planning horizon (Eq. 3.1). Sustainable harvest flows within this model by constraining the model to harvest the same volume for each period (Eq. 3.2). *a* is stand age (5-year period),  $\forall a \in 2$  (1..30), *s* is the successional pathway (1..3), *o* is the operating area,  $\forall o \in (1..107)$ , *h* is the harvest type,  $\forall h \in (1..2)$ , implemented by careful logging around advanced regeneration (CLAAG) followed by irregular shelterwood cuts (50% removal of merchantable volume) (Raymond *et al.* 2009), *p* is the 5-year period,  $\forall p \in (1..30)$ ; V<sub>asohp</sub> is the volume yield (m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>),  $\forall a, s, o, h, p, A_{asohp}$  is the harvested area (ha), Va,*s*, *o*, *h*, *p*, e<sub>asohp</sub> is the area eligible for harvesting (ha),  $\forall a, s, o, h, p, Xop$  takes the value of 1 if the operating area is to be harvested and of 0 otherwise, Bo is the timber production area within operating area.

#### Stochastic environment

In a stochastic environment, we integrated the harvest sub-model with fire and succession sub-models (Figure 3.2). The optimal harvest schedule was used in a harvest sub-model where salvage logging volume is expressed as 30% of the total volume of any productive pixel (volume greater than 50 m<sup>3</sup> ha-<sup>1</sup>) and to be harvested first. Spatially Explicit Landscape Event Simulator (SELES) (Fall et fall 2001), has been used to assess multiple interrogations

toward the spatial interaction between stochastics events such as fire and deterministic long term forest management alernatives (Titler et al. 2012; Raulier et al. 2014; Cyr et al. 2016). The spatial resolution is based on a coarse resolution of 10 ha per pixel.

The simulations were done with a timestep of 5 years and a simulation horizon of 150 years corresponding to one and a half times the mean rotation age. Harvest sub-model was built with a planning horizon of 150 years (30 periods of 5 years). In succession sub-model, forest inventory, site-specific soil and drainage conditions was characterized and was modeled as a semi-Markov process where the succession pathway selected has a function of the proportion of area underlying in the operating area of the initial stands younger then 20 years (Fall et al. 2004) and replaces stands killed by logging or fire. The fire sub-model uses a percolation algorithm to emulate fire events (Fall et al. 2004), the fire size distribution of the territory is described with a weibull distribution (Bouchard et al. 2008) and the fire frequency with a exponential negative distribution.

#### **Scenarios design**

We estimated the harvest target reduction (BFS) that helped deal with timber losses and different proportions of partial cutting (PC). Harvest loss distributions was estimated by simulating the implementation of the timber supply solution for three fire cycles (100, 200 and 400 years). Periodic median VaR were computed from these loss distributions by reducing the PTH and increasing the amount of partial cutting assigned by simply toggling each 5%. Simulations were redone until we found a PTH that could be implemented with no risks. Hundreds of replicates of each scenario were simulated for 150 years using a five-year time step.

#### Managing risk

In the actual forest environment, tactics for managing disruptions risks, are those in which the managers take some action in advance of a disruption and incurs the cost of the action regardless of whether a disruption occurs (Tomlin 2006). The decision-makers need to consider how to maximize harvest volume in terms of probability and the assessment of potential loss (Eq. 3.1) to maintaining the PTH.

$$\operatorname{Prob}\left(\operatorname{L}_{p} \leq \operatorname{VaR}_{p}\right) = \alpha \tag{Eq. 3.1}$$

Value at Risk served to assess risk was estimated with the 5th percentile ( $\alpha$ ) of the loss (*L*) distribution for a given period *p*. Supplier reliability and the nature of the disruptions are the most important determinants to achieving optimal strategies (Tomlin 2006).

## Results

Proportions of partial cutting were estimated for a given BFS. Hence, according to the proportion of partial cutting successive implementation of the optimized timber supply solution helped find a median realized harvest level equal to PTH values for timber harvest levels (Fig. 3.2). We compared several scenarios required to protect the Median VaR. Under current fire cycle planned timber harvest is reduced by about 10% at 3.2 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>, moreover 15% of partial cutting is required to protect the Median VaR. However, a 15% of harvest reduction at 2.9 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup> with 20% of partial cutting and 15% of harvest reduction at 2.7 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup> with 30% of partial cutting are required to protect the Median VaR for fire cycles of 200 and 100 years respectively (Fig.3.3).



**Figure 3.3**. Successive implementation of a harvest target reduction (BFS) and increasing the amount of partial cutting required to protect the Median VaR implemented with no risks.







Once the level on median protection was reached, the level of supply planned by optimization served to build up a buffer stock. Both indirect managements of a buffer stock and buffer coupled with partial cutting were efficient at protecting the rate of harvest success against the Median VaR, however, BFS coupled with PC provided greater median rate of success (Fig. 3.4).



**Figure 3.5**. Median value–at-risk for two protection strategies: indirect management of a buffer stock of timber (BFS) and silvicultural strategy coupled with timber harvest reductions (BFS+PC).

Figure 3.5 presents the level of protection of median value-at-risk as a function of changes in the proportion of partial cutting and timber harvest reductions. Therefore, to protect de Median VaR under current fire cycle, 15% of timber reduction and 30% of partial cutting (2.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) is required, while to protect de Median VaR under 200 fire cycle 25% of timber reduction and 50% of partial cutting (2.2 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) is required, however to protect de Median VaR under 100 fire cycle, 40% of timber reduction and 50% of partial cutting (1.8 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) is required.

## Discussion

To handle risk assessment, different tools have been proposed (Borchers 2005). Risk management according to a timber harvest reduction strategy was already evaluated (Raulier

et al. 2014; Savage et al. 2010); furthermore, in the previous chapter, timber harvest disruptions have been evaluated through the identification of forest areas most vulnerable to fire and excluding low-productivity stands from timber supply. Protection strategies can help reduce the risk of fire but does not necessarily alleviate the risk associate with exposure to timber harvest disruptions (Raulier et al. 2014).

To protect significant disruptions (Max VaR) under current fire regime, a 35% of harvest reduction is required and such reduction should be increased to 48% and 56% under 200 and 100 years fire cycles respectively (Rodriguez et al., 2016). Nevertheless, to protect Median VaR under current and future fire regime, 21%, 31%, and 12% of harvest reduction is required for indirect management of a buffer stock (Figure 3.3). It is possible to extract higher volumes of wood by combining a reduction of harvest level with alternative practices involving variable proportion of partial cutting (Fig. 3.4). Partial cutting is considered as one of the major forest management activities in many regions of the world (Zhou et al. 2013) and can serve to various purposes, including reduction of fire risk (Thorpe et al. 2007; Harvey et al., 2002). Within the context of landscape management unit, partial cutting can be used to have minimal impact on the targeted ecological objectives to the maintenance of biodiversity (Steeger et al.1999).

Long-term planning has challenges associated with time as well as spatial scale (Morgan et al. 2001). The implementation of an adapted silviculture regime, such as partial cutting was addressed for reducing differences between natural forest and forest management (Cimon-Morin et al. 2010), and to maintain old-growth attributes (Johnson et al. 1995; Côté et al. 2010). Partial cutting by reducing rotation period can reduce the time of exposure to the risk

(Steeger et al. 1999) and have significant impacts on forest structure and functions (Reich, 2011).

Salvage of burned timber have been evaluated by Leduc et al. (2015) to help mitigate the inclusion of fire in planned timber harvest. In the present study, salvage logging was given a higher priority to be harvested, fixed at 30% of pre-fire standing volume. Despite having faced the risk of wildfire for many decades, experts are currently reviewing wildfire prevention and mitigation. Notwithstanding such strategy will never eliminate the risk of wildfire completely (Borchers 2005). Risk should be tolerated rather than avoided (Peter and Nelson 2005).

This study addressed to protect the Median VaR using partial cutting and buffer stock. Hence, to protect median VaR; 10% of harvest reduction and harvesting of 15% using partial cutting (created 3.2 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup>) under current fire regime is required. The protection strategies remained effective when 15% of harvest reduction at 2.7 Mm<sup>3</sup> period<sup>-1</sup> were practiced in combination with 30% of partial cutting, this combination allows for protecting the Median VaR of the success rate under future fire regime (100 years fire cycle). Our approach integrates indirect management as timber reduction and silvicultural treatments taking into account the impacts of potential changes in the fire regime. Creating a buffer stock and using silvicultural alternatives to clearcutting would be effective or even practical, and it might even help protect timber harvest disruptions. In contrast to clearcutting, old-growth stand structure and important wildlife values can be reconducted more rapidly after partial cutting (Steeger et al. 1999). As a whole, despite the fact that partial cutting is increasingly applied as an approach to balancing economic and ecological management objectives (Bose et al. 2013), many concerns should be addressed. such as increased costs in planning time and field

84

layout (Picard and Sheppard 2002). Decision support in forest management is widely seen as necessary and the decision makers have to compare the alternatives by themselves, and choose an optimal one (Lawrence, A. 2011).

## Conclusions

Over the last several decades, forest managers have increasingly looked for strategies to minimize the risks and maximize timber harvest under changing conditions. In this study, we assess whether partial cutting coupled with buffer stock may be useful to achieve timber supply target. The strategy involves the uses of variable proportion of buffer stock and partial cutting. Partial cutting coupled with buffer stock strategy appears to be a feasible management tool for meeting timber supply objectives. We suggest that no single strategy should overcome all challenges, especially in the context of wildfire risk and other multi mitigation approaches may be required to minimize fire risk. In fact, forest managers should be able to forecast the outcome of each management strategies to make a balanced decision.

## References

Bergeron, Y., S. Gauthier, V. Kafka, P. Lefort and D. Lesieur. 2001. Natural fire frequency for the eastern Canadian boreal forest: consequences for sustainable forestry. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 31: 384-391.

Bergeron, Y; Leduc A; Harvey B and Gauthier S. 2002. Natural fire regime: A guide for sustainable forest management in the Canadian boreal forest. Silva Fenn, 36: 81-95.

Bergeron Y., Cyr D., Girardin M., Carcaillet C. 2010. Will climate change drive 21st century burn rates in Canadian boreal forest outside of its natural variability: collating global climate model experiments with sedimentary charcoal data. International Journal of Wildland, 19: 1127–1139.

Borchers, J. 2005. Accepting uncertainty, assessing risk: Decision quality in managing wildfire, forest resource values and new technology. Forest Ecology and Management, 211: 36-46.

Bose, A. K., Harvey, B. D., Brais, S., Beaudet, M., and Leduc, A. 2013. Constraints to partial cutting in the boreal forest of Canada in the context of natural disturbance-based management: a review. Forestry, cpt047.

Boychuk, D., and Martell, D. 1996. A multistage stochastic programming model for sustainable forest-level timber supply under risk of fire. For. Sci, 42: 10–26.

Bouchard, M., Pothier D. et Gauthier. S. 2008. Fire return intervals and tree species succession in the North Shore region of eastern Quebec. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 38:1621-1633.

Brunette, M., Holecy, J., Sedliak, M., Tucek, J., and Hanewinkel, M. 2015. An actuarial model of forest insurance against multiple natural hazards in fir (Abies Alba Mill.) stands in Slovakia. Forest Policy and Economics, 55: 46-57.

Charron, I., and D. F. Greene. 2002. Post-wildfire seedbeds and tree establishment in the southern mixedwood boreal forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:1607–1615.

Cyr, G., Raulier, F., Fortin, D., Pothier, D. 2016. Using operating area size and adjacency constraints to mitigate the effects of harvesting activities on boreal caribou habitat. Landscape Ecology, 1-19.

Côté, P., Tittler, R., Messier, C., Kneeshaw, D., Fall, A., Fortin, M. 2010. Comparing different forest zoning options for landscape-scale management of the boreal forest: possible benefits of the TRIAD. Forest Ecology and Management, 259: 418-427.

Cimon-Morin, J., Ruel, J., Darveau, M. 2010. Short term effects of alternative silvicultural treatments on stand attributes in irregular balsam fir-black spruce stands. Forest Ecology and Management, 260: 907-914.

Eyre, F. and Zillgitt, W. 1953. Partial cuttings in northern hardwoods of the Lake States: Twenty-year experimental results. No. 1076. US Dept. of Agriculture.

Fall A and Fall J. 2001. A domain specific language for models of landscape dynamics. Ecol. Modeling, 141: 1-18.

Fall, A., Fortin, M.-J., Kneeshaw, D.D., Yamasaki, S.H., Messier, C., Bouthillier, L., and Smyth, C. 2004. Consequences of various landscape-scale ecosystem management strategies and fire cycles on age-class structure and harvest in boreal forests. Can. J. For. Res. 2: 310–322.

Foster, D., and Orwig, D. 2006. Preemptive and salvage harvesting of New England forests: when doing nothing is a viable alternative. Conservation Biology, 4: 959-970.

Fujimori, T. 2001. Ecological and silvicultural strategies for sustainable forest management. Elsevier.

Galik C, Jackson R. 2009. Risks to forest carbon offset projects in a changing climate. Forest Ecology and Management 257:2209–2216.

Harvey, B., Leduc, A., Gauthier, S., and Bergeron, Y. 2002. Stand landscape integration in natural disturbance-based management of the southern boreal forest, Forest Ecol. Manag, 155: 369–385.

Hirsch, K., Kafka, V., Tymstra, C., McAlpine, R., Hawkes, B., Stegehuis, H., Peck, K. 2001. Fire-smart forest management: a pragmatic approach to sustainable forest management in fire-dominated ecosystems. The Forestry Chronicle, 77: 357-363.

Johnson, E., Miyanishi, K., and Weir, J. 1995. Old-growth, disturbance, and ecosystem management. Canadian Journal of Botany, 6: 918-926.

Lawrence, A. 2011. Human dimensions of adaptive forest management and climate change: a review of international experience.

Leduc, A.; Bernier, P.Y.; Mansuy, N.; Raulier, F.; Gauthier, S.; Bergeron, Y. 2015. Using salvage logging and tolerance to risk to reduce the impact of forest fires on timber supply calculations. Can. J. For. Res., 45: 480–486.

McIver, J., and Starr, L. 2001. A literature review on the environmental effects of postfire logging. Western Journal of Applied Forestry, 4:159-168.

Martell, D. 1994. The impact of fire on timber supply in Ontario. For. Chron. 70:164–173.

Martell, D. 1996. Old-growth, disturbance, and ecosystem management: Commentary. Canadian journal of botany, 74: 509-510.

Mason, W., Petr, M., Bathgate, S. 2012. Silvicultural strategies for adapting planted forests to climate change: from theory to practice. J. For. Sci, 6: 265-277.

Morgan, P., Hardy, C., Swetnam, T., Rollins, M., and Long, D. 2001. Mapping fire regimes across time and space: understanding coarse and fine-scale fire patterns. International Journal of Wildland Fire, 10: 329-342.

Narasimhan, R., Talluri, S., Malapata, S. 2006. Multiproduct, multicriteria model for supplier selection with product life-cycle considerations. Decision Sciences, 4: 577-603.

Nappi, A., Drapeau, P., and Savard, J. P. 2004. Salvage logging after wildfire in the boreal forest: Is it becoming a hot issue for wildlife? The Forestry Chronicle, 1: 67-74.

Pamerleau-Couture, É., Krause, C., Pothier, D., Weiskittel, A. 2015. Effect of three partial cutting practices on stand structure and growth of residual black spruce trees in north-eastern Quebec. Forestry, 88: 471-483.

Prévost, M., and Pothier, D. 2003. Partial cuts in a trembling aspen conifer stand: effects on microenvironmental conditions and regeneration dynamics. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 1: 1-15.

Peter, B., Nelson, J., 2005. Estimating harvest schedules and profitability under the risk of fire disturbance. Can. J. For. Res, 35: 1378-1388.

Pollock, S. L., and S. Payette. 2010. Stability in the patterns of long-term development and growth of the Canadian spruce-moss forest. Journal of Biogeography 37:1684–1697.

Picard, P., and Sheppard, S. R.2002. Visual Resource Management in British Columbia-Part II: Partial cutting in the front country: A win-win solution for short-term timber availability and aesthetics? Journal of Ecosystems and Management, 1-2.

Raulier, F., Le Goff, H., Gauthier, S., Rapanoela, R., and Bergeron, Y. 2013. Introducing two indicators for fire risk consideration in the management of boreal forests. Ecol. Indic. 24: 451–461.

Raulier, F., Dhital, N., Racine, P., Tittler, R., Fall, A. 2014. Increasing resilience of timber supply: How a variable buffer stock of timber can efficiently reduce exposure to shortfalls caused by wildfires. Forest Policy and Economics, 46: 47-55.

Raymond, P., Bédard, S., Roy, V., Larouche, C., Tremblay, S., 2009. The irregular shelterwood system: review, classification, and potential application to forests affected by partial disturbances. J. For. 107: 405–413.

Reich, P., 2011. Taking stock of forest carbon, Nat. Clim. Chang, 1:346–347.

Reed, W., and Errico, D. 1986. Optimal harvest scheduling at the forest level in the presence of the risk of fire. Can. J. For. Res, 2: 266–278.

Rodriguez-Baca, G., Raulier, F., and Leduc, A. 2016. Rating a Wildfire Mitigation Strategy with an Insurance Premium: A Boreal Forest Case Study. Forests, 5 : 107.

Savage, D., Martell, D., Wotton, B., 2010. Evaluation of two risk mitigation strategies for dealing with fire-related uncertainty in timber supply modeling. Can. J. For. Res. 40:1136–1154.

Savage D., and Martell D. 2010. Dealing with uncertainty in strategic forest management planning. SFM Network Research Note Series, No. 73.

Stand, T. 1989. Silvicultural Strategies to Reduce Stand and Forest Susceptibility to the Western Spruce Budworm.

St-Pierre, H., R. Gagnon, and P. Bellefleur. 1992. Re'ge'ne'ration apre's feu de l'e'pinette noire (Picea mariana) et du pin gris (Pinus bansiana) dans la for<sup>^</sup> et bore'ale, Que'bec. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 22:474–481.

Steeger, C., Holt, R., Smith, J. 1999. Enhancing biodiversity through partial cutting. Pandion Ecological Research.

Tittler, R., C. Messier and A. Fall. 2012. Concentrating anthropogenic disturbance to balance ecological and economic values: applications to forest management. Ecological Applications 22: 1268-1277.

Tomlin, B., 2006. On the value of mitigation and contingency strategies for managing supply chain disruption risks. Manag. Sci, 52: 639–657

Thorpe, H., and Thomas, S. 2007. Partial harvesting in the Canadian boreal: success will depend on stand dynamic responses. The Forestry Chronicle, 3: 319-325.

Van Wagner, C.E. 1983. Simulating the effect of forest fire on long-term annual timber supply. Can. J. For. Res, 3: 451–457

Waterhouse, J., Armleder, M., Nemec, A. 2007. Arboreal forage lichen response to partial cutting of high elevation mountain caribou range in the Quesnel Higland of east-central British Columbia. Rangifer, 27: 141-153.

Zhou, D., Zhao, S., Liu, S., Oeding, J. 2013. A meta-analysis on the impacts of partial cutting on forest structure and carbon storage. Biogeosciences, 10: 3691-3703

## **General Conclusion**

Every decision we take involves a certain amount of risk (Tannert et al. 2007). In this context risk analysis and risk management becomes important in research field (Renn and Klinke 2004). Given the increasing importance of risk concerning natural disturbance in forest managing planning it is important to consider vulnerability and adaptation to climate variability and change (Dhital et al 2013; Brooks 2003). Currently the combination of mathematical and computational advances has made the estimation of risk-based performance measures possible for models (Keil et al. 1998; Maier and Ascough 2006), and may well lead to fundamental advances in ecology (Green et al. 2005) but specifications of parameters values is required (Mangel et al. 2001).

The importance of integrated models in sustainable development to proposed management options is required (Clark and Dickson 2003). To integrate dynamic interactions between nature and society, much work has also been done by combining social, environmental and economic assessment (Jakeman et al.2008). The literature about computer power and software are already well developed to achieve a better understanding including the feedbacks which occur in an ecosystem between the climate and human intervention *by* model integration (Chubaty and McIntire 2015).

Deelman and Szymanski (1998) reveals that the dynamic model can be useful but due to the complexities involved the predictive capacity of ecology needs to be applied discriminately. In this thesis, we used a tool for building and running models of landscape (SELES) but a model performance can be challenging by other Spatially Explicit Discrete Event

Simulation Models (*SpaDES*) at times to improve simulation performance (Chubaty and McIntire 2015).

Modeling and simulation in the last decades is becoming easier and faster through the implementation of advances technologies available for studying large and complex system (Carson and Maria 1997; Charette 1989). Simulation can help the implementation of the optimized solution of a timber supply problem to assess the feasibility of the optimal solution Zeigler et al. 2000). Understanding wildfire disturbance is a challenge because of complex interactions over of large temporal and spatial scales (He and Mladenoff 1999; Fall et al. 2004). Therefore, it is important to understand the impact of implementing forest management strategy in long range planning. Based on these insights, we developed a spatially explicit simulation model (Fall and Fall 2001) of timber supply optimization for assessing the effects of wildfire on timber harvest planned and describe the process of managing risk to reduce timber damage.

Many studies have focused on development and implementation processes about potential risks and the conditions under which certain outcomes (Jakeman et al.2008). Several techniques and tools are designed to account of risk induced by fire, succession and changing climatic scenarios. Techniques for the statistical measurement of risk is a part of the process of managing risk (McNeil and Embrechts 2015). We use VaR to characterize expected losses caused by fire and examining the rate of success of harvest planning. However, the identification of sources of uncertainty such as the development of risk-based performance measures is an important issue in the decision-making process (Maier and Ascough 2006). Scenario planning allows managers to assess strengths and weaknesses and understand more

about the outcomes of different decisions made under conditions of risk and consider how to take advantage of opportunities (Miller and Waller 2003).

The focus of the first chapter was to estimate the amount of reduction of timber harvest necessary to build buffer stock and compared it to an insurance premium estimated in units of timber volume. As far as the insurance is concerned, it looks like a good strategy, but find an insurance company that is interested enough to 'crunch the numbers' to see if they believe there are enough potential customers to pay the premiums to make a profit could be required. In the same context, in the second chapter we evaluated the exclusion of vulnerable stands from timber harvest (Raulier et al. 2013) compared to the situation where a buffer stock of timber is created by reducing the planned harvest level by a constant proportion during the strategic planning (Raulier et al. 2014).

The third chapter prescribe partial cutting coupled with buffer stock for developing harvest schedule in an uncertain environment. The combination of two strategies may allow managers to take advantage over other strategies (Quinn and Hilmer 1994). We did not incorporate an economic analysis of partial cutting which is important to demonstrate the feasibility of mitigation strategies in a boreal forest (Dhital et al. 2013).

Whilst most organizations have previously assessed risk as a key strategic issue, and often only partially addressed it, in this age of globalization risk management has become a critical issue (Clarke and Varma 1999). We suggest that no single strategy should overcome all challenges, and an integrated risk management approach is likely to result in higher performance while proactively managing risks.

Regarding the future, forest managers seek to maximize wood supply despite climate change conditions (decreasing fire cycles) which caused important failures in the level of realized

93
harvested volume. Likewise, they are constantly required to evaluate many potential management alternatives to obtain optimal trade-offs between competing strategies. The effectiveness of different strategies for managing risk needs to be attentively assessed (Charette1989; Klinke and Renn, 2002) and it may will depend on several factors, such as the perceived importance and magnitude of the problem, as well as financial considerations in a way that suggests meaningful risk mitigation.

## References

Brooks, N. 2003. Vulnerability, risk and adaptation: A conceptual framework. Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research Working Paper, 38:1-16.

Carson, Y., and Maria, A. 1997. Simulation optimization: methods and applications. In Proceedings of the 29th conference on Winter simulation. IEEE Computer Society. pp. 118-126.

Chubaty, A. and McIntire, E. 2015. SpaDES: Develop and Run Spatially Explicit Discrete Event Simulation Models. R package version 1.0.1. <u>http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=SpaDES</u>.

Charette, R. N. 1989. Software engineering risk analysis and management. New York: Intertext Publications.

Clarke, C., and Varma, S. 1999. Strategic risk management: the new competitive edge. Long Range Planning, 4: 414-424.

Clark, C., and Dickson, M. 2003. Sustainability science: the emerging research program. Proceedings of the national academy of sciences, 14: 8059-8061.

Deelman, E., and Szymanski, K. 1998. Dynamic load balancing in parallel discrete event simulation for spatially explicit problems. In Parallel and Distributed Simulation. Proceedings. Twelfth Workshop on pp. 46-53.

Dhital, N., Raulier, F., Asselin, H., Imbeau, I., Valeria, O., Bergeron, Y. 2013. Emulating boreal forest disturbance dynamics : can we maintain timber supply, aboriginal land use, and woodland caribou habitat? For. Chron, 89: 54-65.

Fall A, Fall J. 2001. A domain-specific language for models of landscape dynamics. Ecol Model 141:1–18.

Fall A, Fortin M-J, Kneeshaw D, Yamasaki H, Messier C, Bouthillier L, Smyth C. 2004. Consequences of various landscape-scale ecosystem management strategies and fire cycles on age-class structure and harvest in boreal forests. Can J. For. Res, 34:310–322.

Green, J., Hastings, A., Arzberger, P., Ayala, J., Cottingham, L., Cuddington, K., and Neubert, M. 2005. Complexity in ecology and conservation: mathematical, statistical, and computational challenges. BioScience, 6: 501-510.

He, S., and Mladenoff, D. 1999. Spatially explicit and stochastic simulation of forestlandscape fire disturbance and succession. Ecology, 1: 81-99.

Jakeman, J., Chen, H., Rizzoli, E., and Voinov, A. 2008. Chapter one modelling and software as instruments for advancing sustainability. Developments in Integrated Environmental Assessment, 3: 1-13.

Keil, M., Cule, E., Lyytinen, K., and Schmidt, C. 1998. A framework for identifying software project risks. Communications of the ACM, 11: 76-83.

Klinke, A., and Renn, O. 2002. A new approach to risk evaluation and management: Riskbased, precaution-based, and discourse-based strategies. Risk analysis, 6: 1071-1094.

Maier, R., and Ascough C. 2006. Uncertainty in environmental decision-making: Issues, challenges and future directions. In Proceedings of the iEMSs Third Biennial Meeting: Summit on Environmental Modelling and Software [CD-ROM], edited by A. Voinov, A. Jakeman, and A. Rizzoli, Int. Environ. Modell and Software Soc., Burlington, Vt.

Mangel, O. Fiksen and Gisk J. 2001. Theoretical and statistical models in natural resource management and research. *Dans* Shenk T.M. et A.B. Franklin. Modeling in Natural Resource Management: Development, Interpretation, an Application. Island Press, Washington D.C., pp. 57-72.

McNeil, J., Frey, R., and Embrechts, P. 2015. Quantitative risk management: Concepts, techniques and tools. Princeton university press.

Miller, D., and Waller, G. 2003. Scenarios, real options and integrated risk management. Long range planning, 1: 93-107.

Quinn, B., and Hilmer, G. 1994. Strategic outsourcing. Sloan management review, 4: 43.

Raulier, F., Le Goff, H., Gauthier, S., Rapanoela, R., and Bergeron, Y. 2013. Introducing two indicators for fire risk consideration in the management of boreal forests. Ecological indicators, 24: 451-461.

Raulier, F., Dhital, N., Racine, P., Tittler, R., and Fall, A. 2014. Increasing resilience of timber supply: How a variable buffer stock of timber can efficiently reduce exposure to shortfalls caused by wildfires. Forest Policy and Economics, 46: 47-55.

Renn, O., and Klinke, A. 2004. Systemic risks: a new challenge for risk management. EMBO reports, 5: 41-46.

Tannert, C., Elvers, D., and Jandrig, B. 2007. The ethics of uncertainty. EMBO reports, 10: 892-896.

Zeigler, P., Praehofer, H., and Kim, G. 2000. Theory of modeling and simulation: integrating discrete event and continuous complex dynamic systems. Academic press.